

pubs.acs.org/CR

Porous Organic Cages

Xinchun Yang,[#] Zakir Ullah,[#] J. Fraser Stoddart,^{*} and Cafer T. Yavuz^{*}

Cite This: Chem. Rev. 2023, 123, 4602–4634	Read Online	

ACCESS

III Metrics & More

ABSTRACT: Porous organic cages (POCs) are a relatively new class of low-density crystalline materials that have emerged as a versatile platform for investigating molecular recognition, gas storage and separation, and proton conduction, with potential applications in the fields of porous liquids, highly permeable membranes, heterogeneous catalysis, and microreactors. In common with highly extended porous structures, such as metal–organic frameworks (MOFs), covalent organic frameworks (COFs), and porous organic polymers (POPs), POCs possess all of the advantages of highly specific surface areas, porosities, open pore channels, and tunable structures. In addition, they have discrete molecular structures and exhibit good to excellent solubilities in common solvents, enabling their solution dispersibility and processability—properties that are not readily available in the case of the well-established, insoluble, extended porous frameworks. Here, we present a critical review summarizing in detail recent progress and breakthroughs—especially during the past five years—of all the POCs while taking a close look at their strategic design, precise synthesis, including both



irreversible bond-forming chemistry and dynamic covalent chemistry, advanced characterization, and diverse applications. We highlight representative POC examples in an attempt to gain some understanding of their structure–function relationships. We also discuss future challenges and opportunities in the design, synthesis, characterization, and application of POCs. We anticipate that this review will be useful to researchers working in this field when it comes to designing and developing new POCs with desired functions.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	4602
2. Strategic Design of Porous Organic Cages	4603
2.1. Intuitive Design	4604
2.2. Computational Design	4605
3. Synthesis of Porous Organic Cages	4607
3.1. Irreversible Bond-Forming Chemistry	4607
3.1.1. Amide Bond Formation	4608
3.1.2. Carbon-Carbon Bond Formation	4608
3.1.3. Nucleophilic Substitutions	4610
3.2. Dynamic Covalent Chemistry	4611
3.2.1. Imine Condensation	4611
3.2.2. Boronic Ester Condensation	4614
3.2.3. Alkene/Alkyne Metathesis	4615
3.2.4. Other Examples of Dynamic Covalent	
Chemistry	4616
4. Characterization of Porous Organic Cages	4617
5. Applications of Porous Organic Cages	4618
5.1. Molecular Recognition and Sensing	4618
5.2. Gas Storage and Separation	4619
5.3. Porous Membranes	4621
5.4. Porous Liquids	4622
5.5. Heterogeneous Catalysis	4623
5.6. Other Applications	4625
6. Outlook and Future Perspectives	4626
Author Information	4626

Corresponding Authors	4626
Authors	4627
Author Contributions	4627
Notes	4627
Biographies	4627
Acknowledgments	4627
References	4627

Article Recommendations

1. INTRODUCTION

Natural porous materials, such as diatoms, charcoal, cotton, feathers and sea-sponges, have been used widely for cooling, filtration, cleaning, and purification of water for many millenia.^{1,2} It is clear that their discrete porous structures endow them with the desired features of low density, large surface area, high thermal insulation, and excellent permeability. It comes, therefore, as no surprise that the evolving needs of human civilizations have led to the controlled fabrication of porous materials. For instance, porous zeolites

Received: September 29, 2022 Published: April 6, 2023





© 2023 The Authors. Published by American Chemical Society have been designed as both adsorbents and catalysts for ionexchange, molecular separations, and petrochemical cracking,³ while urethane foams have been utilized as raw materials for seats, mattresses, and insulation boards.⁴

More recently, designed porous materials, such as metalorganic frameworks⁵ (MOFs), covalent organic frameworks⁶ (COFs), and porous organic polymers⁷ (POPs) with open, permanent, and interconnected pores have been introduced, enabling access to previously unavailable architectures and ground-breaking applications, including but not limited to sensing, shape- and size-selective gas adsorption and separation, energy storage and conversion, water purification, drug delivery, and heterogeneous catalysis.⁸⁻¹³ Additionally, as templates or precursors, they have enabled production of a vast array of chemical compounds that have aided and abetted the development of conventional materials, such as carbon allotropes,¹⁴ metal oxides,¹⁵ metal nanoparticles¹⁶ and supported single-metal-atom catalysts.¹⁷ The remarkable feature of these structurally diverse porous materials is that they are readily extendable into two- (2D) or threedimensional (3D) frameworks, in which the molecular building blocks are interlinked through strong dative or covalent bonds.¹⁸⁻²⁰ These developments raise the question-are there any porous materials made up of small discrete molecules with open pores or cavities that can be permeable to gases or liquids? It is prudent to infer that porous molecular materials ought to be akin to, or even exceed, extended porous frameworks with respect to their porosity and potential applications for the simple reason that they can combine the merits of both classes of materials.

Porous organic cages (POCs) have emerged onto the scene as a new class of low-density crystalline materials composed of stable and permanent voids inside their rigid molecular structures that are equipped with windows to access external environments. Not unexpectedly, they have attracted a lot of attention during the past decade.^{21,22} They are constructed for the most part of covalent bonds, such as those between carbon-carbon or carbon-heteroatoms-e.g., imines, boronic esters, and amides-commonly found in organic molecules. In contrast to extended porous frameworks, POCs are synthesized and characterized in the first instance as molecular species, and then assembled into materials in the solid state, attaining almost all the advantages of emergent porous materials,8 e.g., high surface areas and pore volumes as well as open and tunable pores. Discrete molecular structures confer excellent solubilities upon their compounds in ordinary solvents along with high solution dispersibility and processability,²³ rare features that are unattainable by relying on the mainstream, insoluble extended porous frameworks, such as MOFs, COFs and POPs. All these desirable features come with a hefty price, however, since the making of POCs is synthetically challenging. When compared with extended porous frameworks, the discrete POC molecules prefer to form thermodynamically stable products, often leading to nonporous or closely packed reticulated structures. As more researchers have taken up this challenge, the scope of POCs has broadened immensely in recent years, both in terms of their synthesis and applications. POCs have grown beyond the sole purpose of encapsulating guests and differ distinctively from cavitands and cryptands, even although other researchers²⁴ continue to define them as such. In this review, we assess the recent research progress in the development of POCs from the standpoint of their strategic design, precise synthesis,

advanced characterization and particular applications. Some representative POCs are selected as powerful examples in order to realize an in-depth understanding of the advantages and disadvantages of contemporary synthetic methods, the relationships between their microstructures and key functions, as well as their distinctive characteristics that sets them apart from extended porous frameworks. We discuss the challenges and opportunities of POCs in considerable detail. We anticipate that this review will guide researchers toward the rational design and development of novel POCs, as well as their hybrid/derived materials with potential for industrial applications in the near future.

2. STRATEGIC DESIGN OF POROUS ORGANIC CAGES

It is commonly understood that nonporous molecules can be packed into porous materials as a result of noncovalent bonding interactions, forming extrinsic porosity by nonideal assemblies.²⁵⁻²⁷ This situation is often attributed to the inefficient packing of inelegant molecular structures, for instance, the star-,²⁸ propeller-^{29,30} or paddlewheel-like molecules,³¹ and hydrogen bonded ones,^{32⁺} with directional intermolecular interactions. Researchers have designed and constructed a large number of porous molecular materials with extrinsic porosity, including Dianin's compounds,^{33,34} Noria,³⁵ tris(*o*-phenylenedioxy)cyclophosphazene,³⁶ phthalocyanines,³⁷ and hydrogen-bonded organic frameworks.³⁸ Porous coordination cages, also known as metal-organic polyhedrons (MOPs) with intrinsic pores,^{39,40} are a subclass of supramolecular cages that can be constructed by a modular approach from metal cations and organic linkers. On account of the inner cavities and open windows, porous coordination cages have attracted significant attention in molecular recognition,^{41,42} gas adsorption,⁴³ catalysis,⁴⁴ and biomedicine.⁴⁵ By virtue of the inherent cavities and pores, and complete organic backbones, the POCs are clearly distinguishable from extrinsically porous molecules and porous coordination cages. Note that this review excludes the porous molecular materials of extrinsic porosity and porous coordination cages.

The first examples of POCs were described in the literature in the 1970s. For instance, a hydrocarbon cage in a low yield of 1.7% with a complete C–C backbone was reported⁴⁶ for the first time in 1977. Later on, a shape-persistent cage 1a (Figure 1) with a mixed backbone of C–C and C–N bonds was reported⁴⁷ as a good siderophore candidate in 1984. No credible attention, however, was given to their solid-state porosity. One reason could have been the lack of appropriate instrumentation in synthetic materials laboratories at that time



Figure 1. Construction of shape-persistent cage 1a as a good siderophore candidate. Reproduced with permission from ref 47. Copyright 1984 Wiley-VCH.



Figure 2. Synthesis of a C_2 -symmetry [4 + 8] organic molecular cage 4 by multidentate organic linkers. Reproduced with permission from ref 52. Copyright 2020 Wiley-VCH.



Figure 3. Synthesis of a "tied" porous cage 6. Reproduced with permission from ref 64. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society.

to evaluate their crystal structures and porosities. Also, another reason could have been the targeting of the research toward the capture of substrates in solutions. By the same token, the recent rush on the rapid development of POCs benefits from the popularization of advanced gas adsorption and X-ray diffraction techniques that have become readily available in our times. Since the pioneering works on the synthesis of POCs for the adsorption of volatile compounds and gases were published by Atwood,⁴⁸ Mastalerz,⁴⁹ and Cooper⁵⁰ in 2008 and 2009, a vast number of POCs have been designed and synthesized using established protocols.^{21–26}

One fundamental advantage of POCs is that they are discrete molecular structures with internal voids and open windows. Their backbones are designed from C-C or C- heteroatom bonds, which are commonly present in organic molecules. The following questions, therefore, should be kept in mind when designing and synthesizing new POCs: (a) How

do we select the organic linkers for a hypothetical cage? (b) What is the most favorable bond-forming chemistry and reaction conditions, e.g., precursor concentration, reaction solvent and the order or speed of precursor addition? (c) Will the cages maintain their porosity or collapse, when the solvent molecules are removed from their cavities? (d) What would be their crystal packing arrangements in the solid state? and (e) What physicochemical properties of POCs are to be expected? In short, a whole host of factors need to be contemplated so as to pursue the best balance between their structural stability and useful properties. In this regard, computational methods have brought a lot of promise to the design of POCs.⁵¹

2.1. Intuitive Design

Choosing the appropriate organic linkers is the key to the design and development of POCs. In principle, the organic linkers should have two or more linking sites. Until now, most reported POCs have been constructed from two- or three-way

organic linkers.^{21–23} Multidirectional organic linkers with more than 3-fold connectivity, however, are also known. An elegant example of a cage based⁵² on a multidirectional organic linker is the unusually low-symmetry [4 + 8] molecular cage, 4, which was self-assembled (Figure 2) from the four-dentate aldehyde 2 and the two-dentate amine 3 in a mixed solution of dichloromethane and ethanol.

In order to form a cage, the preferred geometry of the organic linkers is of particular importance. Conventionally, wider bond angles in organic linkers lead to the formation of larger molecular cages, while the narrower bond angles in organic linkers afford comparatively smaller molecular cages.⁵³ It should be noted that a slight change in the bond angle of organic linkers can have a dramatic effect^{54,55} on the crystallization of POCs. In addition, long-chain organic linkers tend to produce large molecular cages with high surface areas and porosity. This outcome, however, comes at a price-the resulting molecular cages are often prone to collapse⁴⁹ after the removal of the solvent molecules trapped inside their cavities. The reason for the collapse can be attributed to the accumulated flexibility of many chemical bonds that constitute the cage framework. As a result, we often witness small, rigid molecular cages reported in the literature⁵⁶ rather than larger ones since the former can be easily constructed by using π bond-restricted, soluble organic linkers.

Once the organic linkers have been chosen, suitable bondforming chemistry needs to be identified in order to construct the target POCs. Generally, the bond-forming routes to follow toward POCs can be classified into the following two categories: (i) irreversible linking chemistry and (ii) dynamic covalent chemistry. Irreversible linking chemistry often involves the formation of strong bonds, including C–C bonds, 57,58 amide bonds, 59 and bonds resulting from nucleophilic aromatic substitution. 60 The advantage of the approach using the irreversible linking chemistry is that it can lead to the formation of highly robust POCs. The resulting cages, however, are often obtained in quite low yields, and therefore, need a complicated purification process before being ready for use. Dynamic covalent chemistry (DCC) involves the formation of weak, reversible chemical bonds, e.g. imine condensation, 49,50,52,53 boronic ester condensation, 61 and alkyne metathesis.54,62,63 The advantage of DCC is that it can afford high-yielding, high-purity POCs. On the flipside, the resulting cages have quite low chemical and thermal stability. Thus, in terms of the selection of bond-forming chemistry, a trade-off between structural stability, target yield, and desirable properties is usually unavoidable. An elegant solution for this trade-off⁶⁴ is the use of a hybrid route (Figure 3), where prefabrication of the organic molecular cage 5 through reversible imine condensation is followed by the subsequent locking using irreversible linking chemistry, depicted in Figure 3b, to synthesize a robust POC 6. The resulting cages were obtained in high yields (67%) and possessed remarkable stability in the pH range of 2.0-12.0, where most organic molecular cages collapse to give nonporous residues.

Irrespective of the nature of the linking chemistry, the reaction conditions are also crucial to the synthesis of POCs. The important parameters are the temperature, solvent, concentration of organic linkers, atmosphere, catalyst, and even the order and speed of the addition of organic linker. Any error in selecting the reaction parameters will lead to the formation of COFs, POPs, or other undesirable products, instead of the targeted molecular cages. In addition, the

selection of reaction parameters has to take into account the intrinsic properties, such as their reactivity and solubility, of the organic linkers. Although it is commonly accepted that POCs are formed in organic solvents under dilute concentrations and mild temperatures with occasionally prolonged reaction times,⁶⁵ other reaction conditions are also possible. For example, by functionalizing the organic linkers with solubility-promoting alkyl chains,⁵⁶ a new range of reaction solvents is opened up, although the molecular cages may have low crystallinity and porosity. Another approach involves taking advantage of multivalency and ligand preorganization, e.g., the molecular cages have been self-assembled in water⁶⁶ through the condensation of hexaformyl and bisamine derivatives, even although imines are not all that stable in water. In other cases, catalysts, such as metal salts and acids, are required to improve the kinetics of formation, crystallization, and product yield of POCs. The key issue, however, is that one must control strictly the type and amount of the added catalysts,⁶⁷ since deviations from the ideal proportions will lead to the formation of undesirable products. Alternatively, rapid-action catalysts can minimize the adverse effects of reaction conditions. For example, poly(ionic liquid)s functionalized with carbene sites have been found⁶⁸ to accelerate the crystallization rate of imine-linked POCs by a factor of at least 10-fold, compared to the more traditional trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) catalyst.

2.2. Computational Design

The design and synthesis of organic compounds, organometallics, and POCs require a lot of time, money, and raw materials, mainly because of the need to optimize chemical pathways. In order to avoid the experimental optimization cost from repetitive trial-and-error, computational tools⁵¹ can be employed to predict the best approaches to chemical reactions before starting lengthy experimental work. Theoretical and computational hypotheses for the prediction of POCs is mainly based on the following two key approaches:⁵¹ (i) classical force field methods and (ii) electronic structure calculations. Each theoretical methodology has its pros and cons. Typically in a classical mechanics approach,⁶⁹ the force field expresses the energy of a system as the sum of intermolecular and intramolecular energies, while neglecting the electronic degrees of freedom. Modern quantum mechanical methods, on the other hand, can simulate the electronic structure,⁵¹ providing extraordinary insight into some of the characteristics, such as optical, electronic, and magnetic properties, that cannot be gleaned from the more classical force field methods. The "rigid skeleton", the pores of the POCs, and host-guest interactions are of considerable interest and continue to be investigated.⁷⁰ The total number of atoms in a given POC is often greater than 100, for which the high-level wave function methods are too expensive. Therefore, electronic structure calculations for POCs commonly rely on density functional theory (DFT), which gives more reliable results with acceptable simulation costs. Recently, computational simulations for extended porous frameworks have witnessed significant developments-in particular, when predicting their gas adsorption⁷¹ and diffusion properties.⁷² The wealth of new data, however, is not immediately useful when we address the applications of POCs. Consider the following: (a) How can we quantify the structural response of hosts toward guest molecules, since most organic molecular cages undergo swelling, structural rearrangement or phase changes upon the insertion of guests? (b) How about the bulk property response to the same structural



Figure 4. (a) Synthesis of imine-linked cages 7, 8, 9, and 10 and their structural formulas. Reproduced with permission from ref 73. Copyright 2011 Springer-Nature. (b) Structural formula for the imine-linked cage 11. Reproduced with permission from ref 74. Copyright 2014 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (c) Binary cocrystals of different chiral cages. Reproduced with permission from ref 73. Copyright 2011 Springer-Nature. (d) Synthesis of an imine-linked cage 12. Reproduced with permission from ref 53. Copyright 2011 Wiley-VCH.

impulse? (c) What about the effects of specific solvents on the interaction, since small changes in the angle or vertex of the organic linker precursors can affect cage geometry and porosity dramatically? (d) How about the weak interactions between the discrete molecular cages in their solid-state? (e) How about the position of the disordered solvent molecules located within the prefabricated pores? In response to these questions, computational methods have been extended to the field of POCs with a few recent examples^{73–83} that have been successful.

The crystallographic structure prediction of POCs can reveal⁵¹ their energetically favorable conformations, crystal packing arrangements, and pore sizes. Such predictions involve the optimization of a single molecular structure through electronic-structure calculations, while neglecting the influence of disordered solvent molecules. A prominent example^{73,74} is a series (Figure 4a,b) of [4 + 6] imine-linked cage crystals and cocrystals. Distinct chiral molecular cages have been selfassembled as a result of the global lattice energy minima of the conformations being incorporated into the calculated preferences, including heterochiral [(S)-7/(R)-8 and (S)-8, (R)-8]and homochiral (R)-11 packing arrangements. Crystal structure prediction has proved that the different forms of cage 7 have similar simulated lattice energies for their racemic and enantiomeric packing arrangements, an observation which could be used to rationalize the fact that cage 7 can be readily interconverted between different polymorphs in the solid state. As reflected in the large energy gaps between the lowest-energy predicted racemic and enantiomeric conformations, cages 8 and 9 prefer to form racemic crystals with heterochiral window-to-window packing, and cage 11 prefers to form homochiral crystals also with window-to-window packing (Figure 4c). In addition to conformation, the prediction of stoichiometry and pore size of cages is also possible on the

basis of the structures of the organic linker precursors. One group have reported⁷⁵ that the lowest energy calculations of the odd–even alternations of a series of possible [2 + 3] and [4 + 6] imine cages were well matched their experimental counterparts—namely, stoichiometry, size, and odd–even preferences while increasing the length of the alkane diamine chain. In another report,⁷⁶ the crystal packing preferences of imine cages with additional methyl groups inside their windows were predicted: the introduction of methyl groups narrowed their pore sizes and affected their crystal packing arrangements. Consistent with the calculated CSP results, two types of experimental imine-linked cages prefer to form window-to-window and window-to-arene packing,⁷⁶ respectively, depending on the position of methyl groups in the aldehyde linker molecules.

In reality the complexity of simulating POCs arises from the fact that host-guest interactions are dynamic processes. Considering the high flexibility of cage skeletons, host-guest interactions play a prominent role in the porosity of the POCs. In a recent study, Holden et al.⁷⁷ classified the porosity in porous molecular solids into the following three types: (1) static porosity-the molecular skeletons are rigid, and there is no change in the structure when the guest molecules pass through the pores, (2) dynamic porosity-although the molecular skeletons are flexible, the porosity is intrinsic rather than rationalized by the movement of the guest molecules, and (3) cooperative porosity—the molecular skeletons are flexible, and the temporary porosity is rationalized predominantly by the host-guest interactions. The computational simulation approach was found to be the best way to distinguish between these three types of porosity and understand their underlying dynamic phenomena. Molecular dynamic simulations predict the movements between the cages and solvent molecules, the host-guest energies, and the impact of the guest molecules on



Figure 5. (a) Structural formula of bicapped cage 13. Reproduced with permission from ref 85. Copyright 1987 American Chemical Society. (b) Structural formula of trefoil knot 14. Reproduced with permission from ref 86. Copyright 2000 Wiley-VCH.

the cage structures. For instance, the molecular dynamic simulations rationalized⁷⁸ the "ON–OFF" porosity switching of cage 7 for H₂ uptake, while describing a mechanism in which H₂ molecules have a relatively short residence time when passing through the channels of organic molecular cages. In order to investigate this unusual behavior, a combination of *in situ* powder X-ray diffraction, gas sorption isotherms, and molecular dynamic simulations was used to study⁷⁷ the porosity of another imine-linked cage, **10**. The cavities of cage **10** exhibited dynamic porosity to H₂ molecules and cooperative porosity to Xe and CO₂ molecules, while its one-dimensional (1D) pore channels exhibited static porosity to all three gases.

Since topology may influence physicochemical properties, molecular simulations have also proved useful in predicting the topological possibilities of POCs. In an example⁷⁹ for calculating the most probable topology, the molecular dynamics simulations predicted numerous lowest-energy topologies for POCs, which were all then confirmed with wet laboratory experiments. In a recent study,⁵³ molecular dynamics simulations indicated that the imine cage **12** undergoes a structural collapse to a nonporous form, a result which matches (Figure 4d) well with experimental observations. In addition, by calculating the host–guest interaction energies,⁸⁰ molecular dynamics simulations also predict the diffusion mechanisms and selectivity for C8 aromatics in POCs.

Since wet synthetic approaches cost a lot of time and money, computational approaches are vital in any high-throughput screening of target molecular cages. What usually happens is that a great many products are formed by multiple organic linkers in one-pot reactions. Recently, a high-throughput discovery for new POCs was accomplished⁸¹ by theoretical simulations-based on geometry optimization and hightemperature molecular dynamics simulations-and consolidated with robotic synthesis and real-time characterization techniques. The authors found that reduction of symmetry plays a critical function when it comes to improving the porosity and solubility of the resultant POCs. The computational screening of 10,000 combinations of multidentate aldehydes and amines⁸² directed the successful synthesis of microporous, highly soluble, and unsymmetrical cages. In a more recent investigation,⁸³ inspired by the concept of cage

discovery from robotic automation of reactions, an optimized computational screening algorithm was developed to predict whether a molecular cage can encapsulate small molecules while preventing them from escaping. Although force field computational simulations and the electronic structure calculations can save several months of laboratory synthesis, they are still time-consuming and challenging, especially for molecules with over one hundred atoms. Machine-learning techniques could solve this problem and provide a fastscreening method for large molecules, along with accurate predictions for shape-persistence, pore size and window symmetry. In a recent report,⁸⁴ machine learning showed progress by taking only a few milliseconds to predict these properties, based on a large database with 60,000 cage molecules. We must note, however, that the most-reported simulated prediction methodologies have focused on the fabrication of POCs using dynamic covalent chemistry, for the simple reason that it is more tractable for algorithms to predict the structures of thermodynamic products compared to kinetic ones. Consequently, new computational prediction theories and methods are highly anticipated for POCs that form as kinetic products.

3. SYNTHESIS OF POROUS ORGANIC CAGES

The fabrication of POCs can occur through the following two distinct bond-forming routes: (i) irreversible linking chemistry and (ii) dynamic covalent chemistry (DCC). In this Section, we describe numerous representative attempts to assess the pros and cons of these two synthetic pathways.

3.1. Irreversible Bond-Forming Chemistry

Nonequilibrium, irreversible chemical transformations can furnish excellent chemical and thermal stabilities to the structures of POCs, while featuring limited functionalities. Since the formation of mechanically interlocked structures through strong chemical coupling reactions are rather uncommon,²² the discovery of novel organic molecular cages by irreversible linking chemistry is quite valuable and continues to be practiced for fundamental reasons. There is still a significant gap, however, between the inevitably low yields and bulk-scale industrial applications. We anticipate that this problem will be resolved in the near future by advances in



Figure 6. (a) The synthesis of the tricyclic polyamide cage 17. Reproduced with permission from ref 88. Copyright 1998 Wiley-VCH. (b) The final step in the synthesis of amide cage 19. Reproduced with permission from ref 59. Copyright 2019 Wiley-VCH.

synthetic chemistry, laboratory equipment, and molecular simulations.

3.1.1. Amide Bond Formation. Amide bond formation is undoubtedly one of the most promising synthetic routes for making POCs as a consequence of its established synthetic toolbox, high rigidity of the adducts, and resonance-locked, limited bond rotation. Typically, the synthesis of an amide-linked cage involves cyclization of the prefabricated, hemispheric organic linker precursors under high dilution. A hexalactam cage 1a with excellent solubility in chloroform was reported⁴⁷ (Figure 1) in early 1984, using an amidation route in which 1,3,5-benzenetriyltris(methaneamine) and a tris(acid chloride) were reacted under high dilution—the yield (13%), however, was poor. The methoxy groups present in this cage were modified by using boron tribromide in dichloromethane to give the hexahydroxy cage 1b.

Later on, using the same approach, the bicapped cage compound 13 was synthesized⁸⁵ (Figure 5), and its size, shape, and yield were found to be akin to the hexalactam cage 1a. Furthermore, to overcome the flexibility of noncyclic organic linkers, a molecular trefoil knot 14 was obtained⁸⁶ following the reaction (Figure 5) of 2,6-pyridinedicarboxylic acid dichloride and 1,1-bis(4-amino-3,5-dimethylphenyl)-cyclohexane. Here, intramolecular hydrogen bonding between the amide groups is believed to assist product formation. It has been shown⁸⁵⁻⁹⁴ that the introduction of transition

It has been shown^{85–94} that the introduction of transition metal cations as templates and chemical tuning of the precursors can overcome the low-yields of the amide-linked cages. For example, the yields of bicapped cage⁸⁵ **13** and the amino acid bridged cage⁸⁷ were elevated to 70% by metal-template-driven multicomponent cyclizations at high dilution. Likewise, inspired by the carbohydrate-bonding proteins, tricyclic polyamide cage **17** was prepared⁸⁸ in a low yield

that was attributed (Figure 6a) to the poor final cyclization of the asymmetrically protected biphenyl intermediate 15 and bispentafluorophenyl ester 16. The yield was improved⁸⁹ (62%) by simply modifying the $-OC_5H_{11}$ functional groups in the corresponding biphenyl and isophthaloyl precursors. In another example,⁹⁰ the yield of a helical amide-based cage was enhanced significantly by using *m*-diaminobenzene rather than the *p*-substituted isomer. It is worth mentioning that amidelinked cages with small molecular structures can be synthesized efficiently by one-step cyclizations of their prefabricated precursor oligomers. For instance, small chiral spherical molecular cages have been cyclized⁹¹ by employing preorganized aromatic amide components in a yield of 56%. Similarly, one-step reactions of some rigidified and suitably sized oligomers have led to the formation of shape-persistent aromatic oligoamide macrocycles^{92,93} and circular aromatic pentamers.⁹⁴ The reactions of the amide bonds are predominantly kinetically controlled, a feature that makes it difficult to construct in high yield amide-linked cages with extensive molecular frameworks. As an alternative, a Pinnick oxidation approach⁵⁹ was developed recently. A high-yield salicylbisimine cage 18, which was prefabricated by reversible DCC and subsequently oxidized to afford the robust amide cage 19, is a good example (Figure 6b) of locking-in a large molecular geometry.

3.1.2. Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation. When it comes to irreversible strong bonding, C–C bonds take the lead because of their inherent covalent nature and substituent versatility, while maintaining π -electron conjugation. In addition, a complete C–C bonded framework with unaltered conjugation can endow porous organic molecular cages with photochemically active functional groups.⁹⁵ The challenge, however, lies in the fact that the C–C linkages favor the



Figure 7. (a) Synthesis of the bicyclophane cages **20** and **21**. Reproduced with permission from ref **46**. Copyright 1977 Elsevier. (b) Synthesis of D_{3h} symmetric triangular prism cage **22**. Reproduced with permission from ref **99**. Copyright 1992 American Chemical Society. (c) Synthesis of calixpyrrole-like cryptand **25**. Reproduced with permission from ref 100. Copyright 2001 American Chemical Society. (d) Synthesis of 3D conjugated cage **28**. Reproduced with permission from ref 101. Copyright 2017 Wiley-VCH.



Figure 8. Structural formulas of the triptycene-based cages 29 and 30. Reproduced with permission from ref 102. Copyright 2007 American Chemical Society.

formation of linear polymers rather than cages, if the kinetic parameters are not controlled. Consequently, C-C bond formation routes often afford cages in low yields.

For example, the bicyclophane cage 20 with an all-carbon skeleton⁴⁶ (Figure 7a) was synthesized by a one-step Wittig reaction between 1,3,5-benzenetricarbaldehyde and 1,4-bis-(bromomethyl)benzene in a dry dimethylformamide (DMF) solution. The cage was isolated in the low yield of 1.7%. This bicyclophane cage 20 was reduced to the saturated

bicyclophane cage **21** by hydrogenation using palladium as the catalyst. In subsequent work, multistep condensation techniques were introduced to fabricate molecular cages composed of trinacrene,⁹⁶ heptacyclics,⁹⁷ and concave hydrocarbons,⁹⁸ with only slight improvements (2%) in the yields.

In subsequent years, optimized catalysts were shown^{99–101} to promote the formation of C–C linked cages. A real breakthrough came with (Figure 7b) the synthesis⁹⁹ (achieved by a double-cyclization method using KOH and $[Pd/(dba)_2]/$



Figure 9. (a) Structural formula of the bicyclooxacalixarene **31**. Reproduced with permission from ref 105. Copyright 2005 American Chemical Society. (b) Structural formula of the cryptophane cage **32**. Reproduced with permission from ref 106. Copyright 2010 American Chemical Society. (c) Structural formula of the cryptophane cage **33**. Reproduced with permission from ref 107. Copyright 2011 American Chemical Society. (d) Structural formula of the semirigid cyclophane **ExBox**⁴⁺. Reproduced with permission from ref 113. Copyright 2013 American Chemical Society. (e) Synthesis of the tetragonal prismatic porphyrin cage **TPPCage**⁸⁺. Reproduced with permission from ref 115. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.

 Ph_3P/CuI) of the D_{3h} symmetric triangular prism cage 22 in an overall yield of 32%. A Brønsted acid-catalyzed calixpyrrole-like cryptand **25** was obtained¹⁰⁰ (Figure 7c) in 48% yield from the corresponding bipyrrole 23 and dialdehyde 24, akin to the syntheses of calixarenes or pillarenes. The pyrrolic NH group facing the cage interior renders 25 promising for binding small molecules. In addition, in the presence of $Ni(COD)_2/2,2'$ bipyridyl, a 3D π -conjugated molecular cage 28 (Figure 7d) was prepared¹⁰¹ in 10% overall yield by intermolecular Yamamoto homocoupling of the tribromide 27 followed by deprotonation and oxidation. Tribromide 27 was prepared in 77% yield by a regioselective bromination of the key intermediate, 26, which was obtained in 90% yield by Suzuki coupling of tri(4-iodo-2,3,5,6-tetrachlorophenyl)methane and 9-n-butyl-9H-carbazol-3-yiboronic acid using $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ as a catalyst.

The rigidity and angular positioning of the building blocks have a considerable influence 102,103 on the yield of the C–C linked cages. A good example¹⁰² of these criteria at work is the construction of triptycene-based molecular cages through a copper-mediated Eglinton-Glaser coupling. The terminal acetylene linkers with two methine units are more rigid than the linker without the methines. The triptycene-based molecular cage 29, however, synthesized (Figure 8) from the terminal acetylene linkers without the two methine units, gave a much higher yield (58%) than that (20%) for the molecular cage 30 synthesized from the terminal acetylene linkers bearing two methine units. The triptycene-based molecular cage 29, prepared from the terminal acetylene organic linkers without methine units, has two kinetically controlled polymorphs. Despite considerable effort, the one-step synthesis of C-C bond-linked cages in high yield has yet to be realized. Cyanostar,¹⁰³ a cyanostilbene-based macrocycle with C_{5} -

symmetry, is a case in point: it was obtained by the Knoevenagel condensation in 81% yield. In the mixed apolar-protic solvents, the enantiomers of cyanostars form sandwich complexes because of their shallow bowl shape and the electron-deficient cyanostilbene units. The 3D cage-forming versions of this kind of traditional chemistry might enable high yields of C–C bonded POCs.

3.1.3. Nucleophilic Substitutions. Stable, irreversible covalent bonds can also be formed through the nucleophilic substitutions¹⁰⁴ and, therefore, used to construct novel POCs. An example is small organic molecular cages featuring C–O bonds. By applying the cesium cation as a template,¹⁰⁵ the condensation of phloroglucinol with an electron-poor pyridine led (Figure 9a) to the formation of the cage-like bicycloox-acalixarene **31** in 95% yield. In another instance,^{106,107} coupling of ethylene glycol bis-tosylate and cyclotriphenolene linkers led to stable intermediates, which were cyclized with bromochloromethane to form two cryptophane cages, **32** and **33**, with a mixture of methylene (Figure 9b) and bismethylene (Figure 9c) links.

The introduction of C–N⁺ bonds as routine building-block linkages^{108,109} by one of us has led to the design and development of robust organic molecular cages. A series of molecular cages with varying geometries, such as the Blue Box,¹¹⁰ a tetracationic molecular receptor,¹¹¹ an X-shaped octacationic cyclophane¹¹² (XCage⁸⁺), a semirigid cyclophane¹¹³ (**ExBox**⁴⁺), a hexacationic triangular covalent organic cage¹¹⁴ (AzaEx²Cage⁶⁺), and a tetragonal prismatic porphyrin cage¹¹⁵ (TPPCage⁸⁺), have all been made and characterized. For the sake of brevity, we will feature only the two classical examples (Figure 9d), **ExBox**⁴⁺ and **TPPCage**⁸⁺. **ExBox**⁴⁺, a robust tetracationic organic cyclophane,¹¹³ was synthesized from 1,4-phenylene-bridged bipyridine and bisbromomethyl-



Figure 10. (a) Synthesis of a molecular cage 34. Reproduced with permission from ref 118. Copyright 2013 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (b) Synthesis of molecular cage 35. Reproduced with permission from ref 119. Copyright 2011 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (c) Synthesis of molecular cage 36. Reproduced with permission from ref 120. Copyright 2020 Elsevier. (d) Synthesis of molecular cage 37. Reproduced with permission from ref 121. Copyright 2011 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (e) Synthesis of molecular cage 38. Reproduced with permission from ref 122. Copyright 2012 Wiley-VCH. (f) Synthesis of molecular cage 39. Reproduced with permission from ref 123. Copyright 2018 Wiley-VCH.

benzene. Using pyrene as a template, the cyclization afforded a yield of 42%. **TPPCage**⁸⁺ was obtained¹¹⁵ in 19% yield from **bzTPP** and **TB·4PF**₆ (Figure 9e) in the presence of tetra-*n*-butylammonium iodide (TBAI). The entire synthetic approach involved rapid S_N^2 nucleophilic substitutions in three steps from 3-(bromomethyl)benzaldehyde, pyrrole, and **TB·4PF**₆ formed from **bzTPP**.

3.2. Dynamic Covalent Chemistry

Dynamic covalent chemistry (DCC) entails the inherent errorcorrection mechanism of reversible chemical bonds to form thermodynamically stable POCs. In contrast with the irreversible-linking chemistry, DCC can lead to construction of molecular cages in higher yields from relatively simple organic linker precursors during one-pot reactions, while avoiding complicated purification procedures. Herein, we have described the most effective current approaches¹¹⁶ employing DCC, such as imine condensation (Schiff base chemistry), boronic ester condensation, and olefin/alkyne metathesis.

3.2.1. Imine Condensation. Schiff base chemistry, the formation of imine bonds through the reversible condensation

of amines and aldehydes, is one of the most commonly used routes to investigate the modular construction of POCs of different sizes, geometries, and functions. The construction of organic molecular cages by imine condensations dates back to 1991, when Donald Cram reported¹¹⁷ a shape-persistent molecular container in 45% yield by a [2 + 4] reaction of a tetraformylcavitand and 1,3-diaminobenzene. Three pioneering pieces of research reported⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ in 2008 and 2009 led to the rapid development of Schiff base-linked POCs. These investigations involved the synthesis of (i) an imine cage by a [4 + 6] condensation of triptycene triamine and salicyldialdehyde,49 (ii) an imine tetrahedral cage 8 with permanent porosity by a [4 + 6] condensation of (R,R)-1,2-diaminocyclohexane and 1,3,5-triformylbenzene for the purpose of gas adsorption,⁵⁰ and (iii) a nanoscale chiral tube by a [8 + 12]condensation of a bowl-shaped aldehyde and p-phenylenediamine in 90% yield.⁴⁸ Since these early investigations-mainly driven by the emergence of advanced characterization techniques and the need for porous materials to address current technological challenges-a large number of novel



Figure 11. (a) Construction of molecular cages 40. Reproduced with permission from ref 124. Copyright 2012 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (b) Construction of molecular cage 41. Reproduced with permission from ref 126. Copyright 2015 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (c) Construction of molecular cage 42. Reproduced with permission from ref 127. Copyright 2015 Wiley-VCH.

POCs have been obtained by imine condensation.^{21,22} At present, most investigations focus on optimizing precision syntheses toward large, highly porous, and stable molecular cages.^{23,65}

In general, the use of extended organic linkers leads to the construction of large shape-persistent organic molecular cages. An elegant example¹¹⁸ of this reaction is the condensation of 4tert-butyl-2,6-diformylphenol and 1,3,5-triaminocyclohexane, leading to the formation of a large [12 + 8] cage (34) with an outer diameter of 3.0 nm, as confirmed (Figure 10a) by single-crystal X-ray diffraction analysis. In addition, geometryinduced entropy can facilitate the formation of large symmetry cages. The [6 + 12] condensation of tetraformylcavitand with rigid, linear benzidine leads¹¹⁹ to the formation of a polyimine octahedral cage 35, which has a large solvodynamic diameter of 4.68 nm, as confirmed (Figure 10b) by diffusion ordered spectroscopy (DOSY) and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy. Recently, it was reported¹²⁰ that a gigantic, record-breaking organic cage (36) with a cuboctahedral geometry can be constructed in 17% yield by a [12 + 24]condensation of the square-shaped tetra(4-aminophenyl)porphyrin and bent-shaped 2-hydroxy-5-octyloxy-1,3-benzenedicarboxaldehyde in dry 1,2-dichlorobenzene. Powder X-ray diffraction analysis (Figure 10c) confirmed that the cage has an outer diameter of 5.3 nm.

High flexibility and rotational freedom in the extended chains of organic linkers can disrupt the formation of large cages. In one report,¹²¹ the reaction of an extended 1,3,5-tri(4formylphenyl)benzene with 1,5-pentanediamine afforded the small [2 + 3] propeller-shaped cage 37 with 1D channels instead of the larger [4 + 6] imine cage, a result (Figure 10d) that can be attributed to high flexibility in the 1,5-pentanediamine linkers. In another report, a large chiral cage, 12, with an outer diameter of 2.9 nm was constructed⁵³ by an [8 + 12]condensation of tris(4-formylphenyl)amine and the chiral (R,R)-1,2-cyclohexanediamine. This cage, however, collapsed after the removal of the guest solvents, as a consequence of unrestricted rotations about the $C_{arene}-C_{arene}-C_{imine}-N_{imine}$ torsion angles at the cage vertices, and the $C_{arene}-C_{a$ N_{amine}-C_{arene} torsional angles located on the trialdehyde surfaces of the cage. Consequently, a critical question is how much the rigidity of organic linkers influences the formation of shape-persistent imine-linked cages. In this context, the condensation of triptycene triamine with two different bis(salicylaldehyde) linkers was investigated¹²² (Figure 10e),

where one of the bis(salicylaldehyde) linkers, possessing an ethylene bridge between the two salicylaldehyde units, has a higher flexibility than the other one. The cage product 38a formed with the flexible bis(salicylaldehyde) linker was obtained with a lower yield of 10%, while the cage product **38b**, based on the rigid bis(salicylaldehyde) linker, was isolated in a much higher yield of 69%. In other work, the influence of the rigidity of organic linkers on the formation of a truncated tetrahedral cage was investigated.¹²³ The [4 + 4] condensation of a 1,3,5-triethyl-substituted triamine with two different aldehydes, namely 1,3,5-triformylbenzene and triethyl-substituted 1,3,5-triformylbenzene, led (Figure 10f) to the formation of the tetrahedral cages 39a and 39b in moderate yields of 47 and 27%, respectively. If, however, the triamine lacked ethyl substituents, the tetrahedral cages did not form because of the free rotation of benzylamine units around C-C bonds. It follows that the flexibility of the organic linkers must be taken into account prior to the construction of shape-persistent imine-linked cages.

Substituents on the organic linkers play a key role in the formation of organic molecular cages. For instance, the [4 + 6] condensation of triptycene triamine with salicyldialdehyde and resorcinol dialdehyde has led¹²⁴ (Figure 11a) to the synthesis of the endofunctionalized shape-persistent cage **40a** and the exofunctionalized cage **40b**, respectively. Moreover, if the *tert*-butyl group—at the para-position to the phenolic hydroxyl group—in the salicyldialdehyde linker is replaced by methyl group or hydrogen atom, the cage formation time is extended from 7 to 11 or 22 days. When the phenolic hydroxyl group is substituted by methyl, methoxy, or hydrogen, ¹²⁵ undesired side products are observed. These observations can be attributed to the stereoelectronic effects of the substituents, which can alter the electronic demands of the formyl groups.

A slight change in the geometry of the organic linkers also affects the formation of organic molecular cages. For example, depending on the chain length and number of carbon atoms, an odd-even effect is observed⁷⁵ for the formation of [2 + 3]and [4 + 6] imine-linked cages. A [4 + 6] condensation of the electron-deficient triazine precursor¹²⁶ with chiral amines has led (Figure 11b) to the construction of tetrahedral cage **41**. In another example, a [6 + 8] condensation of quadrilateral porphyrin derivatives and a triamine formed¹²⁷ (Figure 11c) an Archimedes cubic-like cage (**42**) with a pore size of 1.93 nm in 99% yield. In addition, three types of cages, namely, [2 + 4]dimeric cages with odd-even behavior, [3 + 6] trimeric



Figure 12. (a) Synthesis of molecular cages 43. Reproduced with permission from ref 130. Copyright 2013 American Chemical Society. (b) Synthesis of molecular cage 46_344_2 . Reproduced with permission from ref 131. Copyright 2014 Wiley-VCH. (c) Synthesis of molecular cage 50. Reproduced with permission from ref 133. Copyright 2013 Wiley-VCH. (d) Synthesis of a molecular cage 52. Reproduced with permission from ref 135. Copyright 2017 The Royal Society of Chemistry.

triangular prisms, and [6 + 12] hexameric octahedra, were formed¹²⁸ by the condensation of the tetraformylresorcin[4]arene cavitand with different diamine linkers. Other factors influencing cage formation include the reaction solvents, temperature range, concentrations, and catalysts. For example, in the condensation of the same tetraformylcavitand and ethylene-1,2-diamine, the octahedral, tetrahedral and squareanti prismatic cages were obtained¹²⁹ by simply changing the reaction solvents. In another example, the triply interlocked cages were afforded⁶⁷ by the one-step condensation of a trialdehyde and different diamines catalyzed by trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) in acetonitrile without the use of an additional template, even though the noninterlocked, monomeric cages were formed⁵⁰ in the same solvent in the absence of TFA.

The dynamic nature of imine bonds also enables self-sorting among organic molecular cages. For example, the condensation of a solution of two iso-structural amines and a solution of two structurally similar aldehydes led (Figure 12a) to the exclusive synthesis of two types of cages, namely 43a and 43b,¹³⁰ each comprised of one flexible and one rigid unit. In another, self-sorting (Figure 12b) was observed¹³¹ in the reaction of an amine (44) with four different aldehydes (45, 46, 47, and 48),

where only one type of cage 46_344_2 was obtained. If, however, a solution of amine 44 was reacted with a solution containing aldehydes 45 and 48, two types of cages, 45_344_2 and 48_344_2 , were generated. It was assumed that the hydroxyl groups on the aldehyde monomer 46 affect the self-sorting between amine and aldehydes. Moreover, by making use of self-sorting behavior during DCC, eight different organic molecular cages were produced¹³² by the condensation of constitutionally different aromatic aldehydes with one flexible amine. The selective formation of such different molecular cages relies highly on molecular flexibility, electronic factors, and the presence of a heteroatom in the organic linkers. In addition, the cages undergo catalytic dynamic component exchange in dilute acids.

Postmodification is another effective tool that is used in order to improve the yield and solubility of organic molecular cages. For instance, the hydroxyl groups in the [4 + 6] cage 49 were modified¹³³ by the introduction of methyl, propyl, allyl, benzyl, and 4-nitrobenzyl groups (Figure 12c) in a 6-fold Williamson ether procedure, while maintaining high yields (63–81%) of their corresponding cages 50. Direct imine condensation from substituted phenols, however, resulted in



Figure 13. (a) Synthesis of the first boronic cage 53. Reproduced with permission from ref 138. Copyright 2007 American Chemical Society. (b) Synthesis of the insoluble boronic polymer 54a, macrocycle 54b, macrocycle 54c. Reproduced with permission from ref 139. Copyright 2007 American Chemical Society. (c) Formation of cages homo-55 and hetero-55, through a change of solvents. Reproduced with permission from ref 140. Copyright 2009 Wiley-VCH.

low yields and undesired products, particularly because hydroxyl groups facilitate the formation of cages. In addition, catenated imine cages with slight structural variations were self-assembled¹³⁴ into a controlled hierarchy, leading to the formation of a number of superstructures.

Unfortunately, most organic molecular cages containing imine bonds are sensitive to moisture as well as acidic and alkaline conditions. The postmodification approach, however, exhibits great promise for obtaining highly stable imine-linked cages. In one report, the "tied" cage **6**, which exhibits high stability⁶⁴ over the pH range 1.0-12.0, was constructed (Figure 3) by reacting the amine cage **5** and paraformaldehyde. Cage **5** was also prepared by the reduction of the chiral imine cage **8** using sodium borohydride. In another report, ¹³⁵ sodium borohydride reduction of a salicylimine cage (**38b**) led to the formation of amine cage **51**. The reaction of **51** with *N*,*N*-carbonyldiimidazole led to the formation of a shape-persistent porous carbamate cage **52** (Figure 12d), which has a remarkable stability in (i) concentrated HCl (pH = -1) at room temperature, and (ii) in 1 M HCl (pH = 0) at 100 °C. Acid tolerance of an organic molecular cage was also observed to be enhanced¹³⁶ by efficient packing in the solid state of racemic, as opposed to chiral, forms where intermolecular mesopores in the solids allow faster degradation.

3.2.2. Boronic Ester Condensation. The formation of boronic esters through a simple and reversible condensation of boric acids with catechols¹³⁷ has generated considerable interest in their adaptation of the design and development of POCs. The first example, boronic cage **53**, was reported¹³⁸ in 2007 as a result (Figure 13a) of a condensation of



Figure 14. (a) Synthesis of cuboctahedral cage 56. Reproduced with permission from ref 141. Copyright 2014 Wiley-VCH. (b) Synthesis of symmetrical cubic cage 57. Reproduced with permission from ref 144. Copyright 2014 The Royal Society of Chemistry. (c) Formation of a giant cage 59. *d*-TCE: deuteron-tetrachloroethane. Reproduced with permission from ref 147. Copyright 2021 Wiley-VCH.

cyclotricatechylene and a boronic acid-appended hexahomotrioxacalix[3]arene with the addition of Et_4NAcO . By simply changing the *p*Ka of the solvents, the decomposition and reconstruction of the isolated cages can be tuned thanks to the dynamic nature of the boronic ester linkages.

As in the case of the imine-based POCs, the synthetic conditions, and in particular the choice of guest molecules, influence the conformations of the boronic ester cages strongly. The condensation of a racemic tetraol containing two fixed 1,2-diol units and 1,4-benzenedi(boronic acid) with a planar structure affords¹³⁹ (Figure 13b) three different kinds of products-namely, an insoluble boronic polymer 54a, a [2 + 2]macrocycle 54b, and a [3 + 3] microcycle 54c, in three different solvents, i.e., methanol, methanol/toluene, and methanol/benzene, respectively. It was also shown¹⁴⁰ (Figure 13c) in another study that using the same starting reagentsthe racemic tetraol and 1,3,5-benzenetri(boronic acid) - but changing only the guest solvents can direct the formation of two types of boronic ester cages, namely, the symmetrical chiral boronic ester homo-[3 + 2] cage 55 in methanol or a mixed solvent of methanol and *p*-xylene, and the asymmetrical *hetero*-[3 + 2] cage 55 as a major product in the mixed solvents, such as *o*-xylene/methanol or *m*-xylene/methanol.

The structures of boronic ester cages are also highly affected by the size or geometry of the organic linkers. The triptycene tetraol, with its 120° angle between the aromatic planes and the two ethyl substituents on the outer aromatic ring, is found (Figure 14a) to be an ideal linker, insofar as it reacts with 1,3,5benzenetri(boronic acid) to form¹⁴¹ quantitatively a large cuboctahedral cage 56 with an outer diameter of 3.99 nm and an inner maximum diameter of 3.03 nm. Such cages are packed in a hexagonal network as a result of $[\pi \cdots \pi]$ stacking of the trisboronic ester units of adjacent cages in the solid state. If, however, a 9,10-dihexyltriptycene -consisting of long alkyl chains at its bridgehead positions- serves as a linker, then quadruply interlocked cage catenanes with ellipsoid shapes are formed¹⁴² during the crystallization. If the same alkyl chains are substituted by Br atoms on the triptycene linkers, condensation of the brominated hexaol triptycene with benzene 1,4-diboronic acids lead to the formation¹⁴³ of tetrahedral [4 + 6] boronic ester cages. Perfluorination of

diboronic acid accelerates the formation of boronic ester cages. The [8 + 12] condensation of the catechol-functionalized tribenzotriquinacenes, consisting of 89° angle between two catechol units and the 1,4-phenylene diboronic acid leads¹⁴⁴ (Figure 14b) to the production of the highly symmetrical cubic cage 57. By varying the choice of diboronic acids with "bite" angles of 60°, 120°, and 180°, a series of boronic ester cages with different shapes can be prescribed, and these boronic ester cages self-select specific permutations in the course of condensation with multiple organic linkers.¹⁴⁵ Likewise, the self-condensation of diboronic acids with C–B bond angles of 60°, 84°, and 117° can afford a series of polyhedral 3-mer, 6-mer, and 12-mer boroxine cages,¹⁴⁶ which have exceptional shapes and cavities surrounded by two, four, and eight Lewis acidic boroxines.

In contrast with imine-linked cages, ultralarge shapepersistent boronic cages remain elusive, since the boronic ester bonds are prone to dissociation under acidic, alkaline, and high-humidity conditions. Nonetheless, a significant breakthrough in this field occurred (Figure 14c) with the construction of a giant boronic ester cage (58) in 70% yield¹⁴⁷ as the result of a [8 + 12] condensation of 1,3,5benzenetri(boronic acid) and a tetraol. The cage was modified by an alkene metathesis of its 48 peripheral terminal alkene units to give a stable exoskeleton, resulting in cage 59 with a large outer diameter of 3.75 nm.

3.2.3. Alkene/Alkyne Metathesis. In dynamic covalent chemistry (DCC), the metathesis of alkenes and alkynes is an emerging strategy for the construction of organic molecular cages. Metathesis refers to the cleavage of double or triple bonds first of all and then recombination to form new alkenes or alkynes as a result of catalytic activity presided over by transition metals. In 2003, porphyrin-based molecular cages were self-assembled¹⁴⁸ from six Zn(II) porphyrins by alkene metathesis using pyridine-containing thiol-functionalized gold clusters as templates. Subsequently, a four-linked cofacial porphyrinic cage was obtained¹⁴⁹ in 40% yield by using 1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane as a template in the metathesis of porphyrin derivatives containing terminal alkenes. Such cages feature sandwich-type structures, in which 1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane molecules are coordinated with the



Figure 15. (a) Synthesis of molecular cage 60. Reproduced with permission from ref 157. Copyright 2008 Wiley-VCH. (b) Synthesis of macrocycle 61. Reproduced with permission from ref 158. Copyright 2008 Wiley-VCH. (c) Synthesis of molecular cage 62 by ball milling. Reproduced with permission from ref 159. Copyright 2009 American Chemical Society. (d) Assembly of molecular cage 63 by the combination of imine condensation and alkene metathesis. TCB: 1,2,4-trichlorobenzene. Reproduced with permission from ref 162. Copyright 2013 American Chemical Society.

upper and lower porphyrin layers through Zn–N bonds, as confirmed by single-crystal X-ray diffraction analysis. The template and Zn atoms can be removed under acidic conditions to produce a molecular cage with a ligand-free cavity and flexible conformation. Compared with alkene metathesis, the cages constructed by alkyne metathesis have been found to be more stable. In 2011, a rectangular prism porphyrin cage was obtained¹⁵⁰ by alkyne metathesis without the use of a template. Thereafter, a permanently interlocked organic cage¹⁵¹ was prepared by alkyne metathesis, and a tetrahedral organic cage¹⁵² was synthesized by triple bond-containing precursors employing alkyne metathesis with a yield of 99%.

3.2.4. Other Examples of Dynamic Covalent Chemistry. There are, in principle, other types of reversible bond formations that can be used for constructing organic molecular cages. Labile disulfide (-S-S-) bonds, for example, can be used for constructing shape-persistent cages. In an early example, a trithiol-containing bowl-shaped compound was selfassembled into an organic cage¹⁵³ in the presence of O_2 or I_2 with yields as high as 90% by forming reversible disulfide bonds. Hydrophobic factors and the absence of a metal template afforded a trefoil knot¹⁵⁴ from dithiol-based organic linkers by a slow oxidation process with a yield of 94% simply by increasing the concentration of organic linkers on the addition of NaNO3, Furthermore, water-soluble interlocked [3] catenanes were obtained¹⁵⁵ in a one-pot reaction of the hydrophobic and electron-deficient 1,4,5,8-naphthalenediamide linker acceptor and the electron-rich 2,6-dialkoxynaphthalene donor with the addition of spermine as a template. Compared to the one-pot reaction, the yields were raised to 60% by the stepwise addition of the donor and spermine. In addition to disulfide bond formation, the condensation of a hydrazide with an aldehyde can also be applied to form organic molecular cages. In one report, the dehydration-by-condensation of a formyl and hydrazine derivative (amino) in acidic aqueous conditions led¹⁵⁶ to the formation of a mechanically

interlocked 3D catenane cage. These interlocked cages were decomposed into two discrete cages with the addition of dimethyl sulfoxide.

For more complex structures, two different types of reversible bond formation can be used in a synchronous manner to construct POCs. A preferred combination is dynamic imine and boronic ester condensations, because the Lewis acidic boronic acid catalyzes imine condensation. Notably, in some cases, the boronic acid can also catalyze imine-bond hydrolysis, adding another level of reversibility to the reaction. Mixing cyclotricatechylene containing six phenolic hydroxyl groups, m-xylylenediamine, and 2-formylphenylboronic acid in deuterated DMF at room temperature leads¹⁵⁷ to the formation (Figure 15a) of the trigonal cage **60**, while a mixture of 1,4-diaminobenzene, 3-formylphenylboronic acid, and pentaerythritol in THF/toluene leads¹⁵⁸ to the formation of the macrocycle 61 in 44% yield (Figure 15b) along with insoluble polymeric side material. Solvent-free synthesis has been found to promote the combination of imine and boronic ester condensation. In one report,¹⁵⁹ the ball milling of pentaerythritol, 4-(4-formylphenyl)phenylboronic acid, and 1,3,5-trisaminomethyl-2,4,6-triethylbenzene at 20 Hz for 1 h produced (Figure 15c) a large [6 + 3 + 2] cage 62 with a size of up to 3.1 nm and a yield of 71%. The same cage was not obtained in solution. The ball milling of tBu₂Si(OH)₂, 4formylbenzeneboronic acid, and 4,4'-bis(aminomethyl)biphenyl has led¹⁶⁰ to the production of a borasiloxane macrocycle in 85% yield, while the same macrocycle was obtained at a much lower yield (20%) in solution.

The boronic ester functionality has a high affinity for coordination with N-ligands such as pyridines. Therefore, its combination with B–N bonds is promising when it comes to the construction of novel organic molecular cages. An example is the formation¹⁶¹ of a cage as a result of the reaction of 2,4,6-tri(4-pyridyl)-1,3,5-triazine, 1,4-benzenediboronic acid, and 4,5-dichlorocatechol. The dative B–N interactions function as a stabilizer for the cage structure. Further, the combina-



Figure 16. Frequently used analytical tools for investigating POCs. (a) PXRD pattern of the trimeric triangular prism cage (TTPCage-1) after desolvation. (b) N_2 gas sorption isotherms at 77 K for a series of [3 + 6] TTP cages. (c) TGA curves of a series of [3 + 6] TTP cages. (d) FTIR spectra of a series of [3 + 6] TTP cages. Reproduced with permission from ref 128. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.

tion¹⁶² of imine condensation and alkene metathesis has also been explored. The cage **63** was obtained (Figure 15d) in 51% yield by a one-pot reaction of large-sized carbazole derivatives and trialdehyde compounds.

4. CHARACTERIZATION OF POROUS ORGANIC CAGES

Advanced analytical techniques have a critical role to play in the fast-growing field of POCs. The key information about POCs, such as constitutions, structures, and physicochemical properties, can all be revealed comprehensively through an assortment of analytical tools. In this section, we will describe multiple advanced analytical techniques that can offer nearcomplete characterization of POCs, and thus pave the way for their applications.

As the most conclusive method (Figure 16a) of analysis, single-crystal/powder X-ray diffraction (SC/PXRD) measurements are key to determine the phase, crystallinity, purity, structural integrity, and crystal size of POCs. SCXRD can reveal the complex structure, noncovalent bonding interactions, and crystal size of a cage structure, provided the growth of a sufficiently large single crystal is possible.^{120,121,128} For example, the truncated cuboctahedron structure of cage **36** has been revealed by using SCXRD.¹²⁰ Four porphyrins in cage **36a** were linked by anticonformation of imine bonds, arranged along the mirror plane and perpendicular to the central 4-fold axis, while the residual eight porphyrins were linked by mixed conformation of imine bonds, and located on both sides of the said mirror plane. Thus, cage 36 has exhibited a large outer diameter of 5.3 nm (maximum ~7.0 nm, including alkyl chains), with an inner diameter around 4.3 nm. In another example,¹²¹ by using SCXRD data, the chiral three-bladed propeller structure of cage 37 was confirmed. Cage 37 crystallized in the orthorhombic space group, Pca21, with 2fold and 4-fold rotational symmetries. In addition, some cage compounds are not as robust and their microstructures are prone to collapse after the removal of guest solvents. This behavior holds true even for some resilient cages, where structures are found to decompose under harsh conditions. In this regard, SC/PXRD can also provide direct evidence of cages which have changed their phase, structure or become amorphous after desolvation or other treatments. For example, close inspection of the XRD data revealed that⁶⁴ cage 5 has a flexible molecular structure after the removal of dichloromethane inside its cavities, and its collapsed structure would be recovered to the original crystalline state when a large amount of dichloromethane was adsorbed within its cavities.

The porosity and specific surface areas are important features for POCs. Consequently, N_2 sorption has become the common tool (Figure 16b) for the determination of their pore size, pore volume, and specific surface area.^{123,128} The gas sorption behavior of POCs is closely associated with their activation methods. For example, as confirmed by N_2 sorption at 77 K,¹²³ the apparent specific surface areas (Brunauer–Emmett–Teller model, BET) of cages **39a** and **39b** activated by thermal treatment under vacuum have never exceeded 11

and 27 m² g⁻¹, respectively. Surprisingly, their specific surface areas have been substantially increased to 71 and 443 $m^2 g^{-1}$, respectively, after room-temperature activation in n-pentane with sonication. In addition, N₂ isotherms have revealed¹²⁸ that the N_2 capacities and BET surface areas of a series of [3 +6] triangular prism cages were significantly improved with the increase in their linker length (Figure 16b). Notably, porous structures are very sensitive to N₂ sorption and changes in gas uptake can be observed immediately by the decomposition of a small percentage of the cage. The PXRD patterns, on the other hand, do not change much with minor incursions. As a consequence, a combination of the SC/PXRD and N₂ sorption techniques ensures the real-time monitoring of cage phase and structure changes before and after the cage's use. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) can play a complementary role (Figure 16c) to these two key analyses, especially when it comes to determining the thermal stability of cages^{128,163} under varying atmospheric conditions.

POCs have a clear advantage over other extended porous frameworks, i.e., MOFs, COFs, etc., since modern analytical techniques that are available for small molecules can also be employed routinely for the characterization of POCs, owing to their solution processability. High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) has been used¹⁶⁴ for the determination of the optimized reaction conditions for growing crystalline cages, as well as for the purification of the cages. High-resolution ¹H and ¹³C nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopic analyses are often used^{68,163,165} to reveal the chemical coordination environment, nature of assembly (discrete or otherwise), and symmetry (or lack thereof) of a cage. In one example,68 by real-time detection of C5-proton shifts in the triazolium ring through time-dependent ¹H NMR spectra, the acceleration in the crystallization of cage 8 by the catalysis of 1,2,4-triazolium poly(ionic liquid)s has been confirmed. In another example,¹²⁰ by using ¹H NMR spectra, the absence of any free aldehyde group in the symmetric structure of cage 36b has been confirmed. A close inspection of the deshielding in the chemical shift of the hydroxyl protons revealed the formation of intramolecular hydrogen bonds in cage 36b. In order to characterize POCs on the basis of their size, shape, and association between the cage (host) and nanoparticles (guest), two-dimensional diffusion ordered spectroscopy (DOSY) NMR is remarkably well suited.^{120,164,165} The occasional overlapping of the signals, however, can occur in ¹H NMR spectra if impure or low-symmetry POCs are present. In order to address the problem, high-resolution electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-TOF-MS) analysis provides the ideal choice, since it produces distinct patterns with which to analyze the finite structures of POCs.^{128,162,163} Furthermore, dynamic light scattering (DLS) measurements can also be used to distinguish cages on the basis of their grain and pore sizes.^{164,165} For example, the measurement of cage particle sizes by DLS has confirmed¹⁶⁵ the formation of core-shell structures.

Microstructural and morphological analyses of POCs and POC composites are of considerable value for the crossvalidation of textural properties. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) is the most effective way to visualize directly the size and morphology of POCs on a large scale.¹⁶⁵ In addition, transmission electron microscopy (TEM), high-resolution TEM (HR-TEM), and high-angle annular dark-field scanning TEM (HAADF-STEM) are often used to visualize the size, distribution, and morphology of single cages or their composites.^{164–166} For example, by using SEM and TEM measurements,¹⁶⁶ the polyhedral colloidal morphology with mesopores within colloids has been observed for cage **8** synthesized under the long chain ionic surfactant-containing reaction solution. In addition to these electron microscopic techniques, Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR, Figure 16d),¹²⁸ X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS),¹⁶⁵ and UV–vis absorption spectra¹⁶⁶ have all been used to investigate the functional groups, binding energies, and photoelectronic properties of POCs, since they are very sensitive to oxidation states and coordination number of the guests.

5. APPLICATIONS OF POROUS ORGANIC CAGES

Research over the past two decades has produced a number of POCs with desirable sizes, porosities, specific surface areas, geometries, and solubilities thanks to both irreversible linking chemistry and DCC. With the help of advanced analytical techniques, their unique physicochemical properties have been well characterized and evaluated, allowing the potential for applications to expand rapidly. Here, we outline and discuss the up-and-coming applications of the POCs, including for molecular recognition, gas storage and separation, porous liquids, porous membranes, heterogeneous catalysis, and as proton conducting materials, in the modern era of chemistry and materials science.

5.1. Molecular Recognition and Sensing

Molecular recognition is widely used in nature to regulate biological processes.¹⁶⁷ A fundamental aim of supramolecular chemistry is to construct novel receptors¹⁶⁸ endowed with high selectivities, good binding affinities, and unique functionalities toward target molecules, akin to bioreceptors. In this respect, POCs are ideal artificial receptors for guest molecules,¹⁶⁹ because of their well-defined sizes, inherent 3D cavities, isolated molecular structures, and rich functionalities. More specifically, in many cases, POCs can offer outstanding complementarity to the target guests, even under external, competing stimuli.

POCs are reported to be highly selective receptors for a number of cations, such as Fe^{3+} , Ni^{2+} , and Ag^+ , and anions,^{47,85,99,170} such as SO_4^{2-} and Cl^- . Cylindrical imine cages,¹⁷¹ in particular, show high binding affinity for alkali metal cations depending on the nature of their cavities. Small cations, such as Li^+ , Na^+ , K^+ , prefer to bind at the outer surface of the cages, and large cations, such as Rb^+ and Cs^+ , prefer to reside inside the cavities of the cages. A tetracationic cyclophane, for example, has been found to exhibit¹¹¹ reversible allosteric control of ferrocene under the utilization of PdCl₂ as a heterotropic effector. The binding affinity of ferrocene can be enhanced or diminished by the stepwise addition or removal of PdCl₂, respectively. In the case of another example, aromatic oligoamide macrocycles⁹³ exhibit outstanding selectivity when it comes to recognizing guanidinium ions.

POCs are also ideal artificial receptors for biomolecules. For example, the recognition of carbohydrates in hydroxyl-rich media is very challenging on account of their complex structures and the lack (generally speaking) of distinct characteristics such as ionic or strongly hydrophobic groups. As a result of the formation of effective intermolecular hydrogen bonds and $[CH\cdots\pi]$ interactions, the tricyclic polyamide cage **18** (Figure 6a) with two biphenyl and eight

important in many biological processes, such as oxygen transport, photosynthesis, and metabolism. The X-shaped octacationic cyclophane cages,¹¹² which have large and rigid binding cavities, serve as excellent receptors for both free-base and zinc-porphyrins with subnanomolar affinities in water. These high affinities can be attributed to the hydrophobic effect and multiple $[CH\cdots\pi]$ interactions between the cages and porphyrins. These cages modulate the physical properties and chemical reactivities of the encapsulated porphyrins.

The identification of small harmful molecules, such as toxins in blood and wastewater, is crucial for human health. In this respect, organic cages,¹⁷² synthesized from the condensation of 4,4'-diformyltriphenylamine and triamines, followed by sodium borohydride reduction, have been utilized as fluorescent sensors for picric acid, a common constituent in many dyes. The high selectivity of these cages for picric acid can be attributed to the formation of a strong cage-picrate complex according to the transfer of the acidic hydroxyl protons of picric acid to basic amine groups in the cages. Moreover, the hexacationic triangular prismatic cages,¹¹⁴ which have two 2,4,6-triphenyl-1,3,5-triazine platforms connected by three 4,4'-bipyridinium pillar-shaped spacers, exhibit excellent recognition for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, including pyrene and pyrene-1-carbaldehyde. More specifically, owing to the dipole-cation and dipole-dipole interactions, pyrene-1carbaldehyde displays a significantly enhanced affinity for binding inside the cage cavity when compared to pyrene, which is usually considered to be the better π -electron donor.

Fullerene receptors based on noncovalent bonding chemistry¹⁷³ remain a focus of intense research in supramolecular chemistry. POCs with suitable pore sizes exhibit excellent selectivities and binding affinities for fullerenes on account of their geometric match. For example, C₆₀ and C₇₀ are difficult to separate because of their structural similarity and nearly identical physical and chemical properties. Zhang and coworkers¹⁵⁰ have synthesized a rigid porphyrin-based cage, which exhibits a high selectivity of binding of C70 over C60. The change in distance between the cage and the fullerene guest amounts to a large difference in the stabilization energy. We have reported the synthesis of a cationic molecular cage consisting of two tetraphenyl porphyrins bridged face-to-face by four viologen units,¹¹⁵ which are capable of encapsulating both C_{60} and C_{70} courtesy of $[\pi \cdots \pi]$, $[C-H\cdots \pi]$, and [cation $\cdot \cdot \cdot \pi$] interactions. The cage, which shows (Figure 17) a much higher binding selectivity for the larger, ellipsoidal C_{70} over the icosahedral C_{60} , results in a selective extraction of C_{70} from a C₆₀-enriched fullerene mixture.

In a recent investigation, electrons have been employed¹⁷⁴ as catalysts for molecular recognition. The formation of a trisradical complex¹⁷⁵ by a macrocyclic host and a dumbbell-shaped guest is found to be driven by the dynamic addition and extraction of electrons through means of molecular or electrolytic electron donation, enabling a molecular recognition process, that is otherwise kinetically unfavorable because of the steep activation energy. The discovery of a chemical electron source as a catalyst,¹⁷⁴ has far reaching consequences,



Figure 17. Encapsulation of C_{60} and C_{70} by the cationic molecular cage **TPPCage**⁸⁺. Reproduced with permission from ref 115. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.

for example, POCs with selective guest uptake abilities could now be constructed.

5.2. Gas Storage and Separation

Since global warming is attributed commonly to carbon emissions, gas capture, separation, and storage are closely related to the well-being of human society. POCs have received significant attention ever since their gas adsorption capability⁵⁰ was first demonstrated in 2009. The persistent porosity and apparent BET surface areas of POCs and other porous solids, such as zeolites, activated carbons, porous polymers, MOFs, and COFs, are often evaluated by N₂ adsorption isotherms.¹⁹ The current record for BET surface area for a POC is reported¹⁴¹ to be 3,758 m² g⁻¹. The high surface areas lead to potential applications in (i) the adsorption of hydrogen, greenhouse gases, and hydrocarbons, (ii) the removal of toxic gases, and (iii) the separation of light gas pairs (e.g., N₂/O₂) for industrial applications. Hydrogen is an ideal energy source^{176,177} for a sustainable

future because of its high energy density and clean combustion. Considering their large surface area, high porosity and tunable structures, POCs have considerable potential for hydrogen storage. In 2009, a shape-persistent POC (10, Figure 4) was reported.⁵⁰ The molecular structure of **10** includes six vertex methyl groups and packs to form a microporous solid with a window-to-arene arrangement and a 1D pore channel. This cage is on record for taking up 8.88 mmol g^{-1} H₂ (1.75 wt %) at 77.3 K and 7.0 bar. Furthermore, a soft POC, 9, has been reported,¹⁷⁸ and, after desolvation, was found to adsorb 9.49 mmol g^{-1} H₂ at 77.3 K and 1.2 bar. Another organic cage 7, prepared⁵⁰ in ethyl acetate, features four arene faces and four triangular windows and packs to form a nonporous solid. The desolvation of 7/ethyl acetate by heating leads to the formation of a polymorph, $7\alpha'$, which is nonporous to N₂ and H₂ at 77 K. The exposure of $7\alpha'$ to dichloromethane vapor, followed by complete desolvation under vacuum at 383 K, led to the formation 7^{8} of a new polymorph, $7\beta'$, which is nonporous to both N₂ and Ar at 77 K and yet adsorbs significant quantities of H₂. In addition, by making asymmetric organic cages through dynamic covalent scrambling reactions, amorphous cage solids have been formed.¹⁷⁹ These cages boast enhanced H₂ storage properties compared to their crystalline counterparts. Notably, despite the progress during the past few years, improvement in the H₂ storage capability of POCs is still one of the most important research directions that needs to be addressed with same intensity in the future.

In the capture and storage of the greenhouse gases CO_2 and CH_4 , POCs can play an important role on account of their tunable adsorptive sites in addition to their large surface areas. A series of imine cages, ^{50,121,180} such as 7–10 (Figure 4) and 37 (Figure 10), have been developed for adsorbing large quantities of CO_2 and CH_4 at high-pressures (140 bar).



Figure 18. (a) Formation of cocrystal **64** by chiral recognition. (b) H_2 and D_2 adsorption (closed symbols) and desorption (open symbols) isotherms of the cocrystal at different temperatures. (c) D_2/H_2 Isotherm ratio as a function of pressure at different temperatures. (d) Thermal desorption spectroscopy (TDS) recorded on cocrystal **64**, obtained after exposure to a 10-mbar 1:1 H_2/D_2 isotope mixture under varying temperatures (T_{exp}) for a fixed exposure time (t_{exp}) of 30 min. (e) D_2/H_2 Selectivity as a function of t_{exp} at 30 K (red), 40 K (blue), and 50 K (green). Reproduced with permission from ref 187. Copyright 2019 American Association for the Advancement of Science.

Likewise, porous tricyclooxacalixarene cages¹⁸¹ exhibited good CO_2 uptakes of up to 12.5 wt % (2.8 mmol g⁻¹) and high selectivity for CO_2 over N₂ adsorption ($CO_2/N_2 = 80/1$, v/v) at 273 K and 1 bar. Amide-based cages⁶⁰ have also shown enhanced adsorption of CO_2 and CH_4 , while defective imine cages¹⁸² were especially notable with their enhanced CO_2 uptake because of the presence of additional functional groups.

The transformation of POCs into frameworks, while maintaining their structures and inherent cavities, can improve their CO₂ adsorption capability significantly. In 2011, a 3Dcage framework was constructed¹⁸³ by linking covalently prefabricated imine cages that exhibit high selectivity for the adsorption of CO_2 ($CO_2/N_2 = 138/1$, v/v). The synergistic effects between functionalized amino groups (from the reduction of imines) and the intrinsic pore size of the cage structure are believed to be responsible for the high CO_2/N_2 selectivity. In 2017, a 3D coordination-networked cage was prepared¹⁸⁴ by using the imine-linked cage as the precursor. This cage showed an enhanced CO_2 uptake (1093 cm³ g⁻¹ at 23 bar and 273 K) with a lower CO₂ adsorption enthalpy than that of the cage precursor. More recently, a cage-based 3D COF was constructed¹⁸⁵ by applying an organic cage as a triangular prism linker. This COF adsorbed 204 mg g $^{-1}$ CO $_2$ at 273 K and 1 bar, and 107 mg g^{-1} at 298 K and 1 bar, one of the highest CO₂ uptakes for COFs under the same conditions.

POCs are also promising when it comes to the separation of rare gases that are required in high purities for industrial applications. Although the static pore size of the imine cage 8

(Figure 4) is smaller than that of the dynamic radius of Xe, it has been found that¹⁸⁶ this cage can separate Xe selectively at low concentrations directly from air. The excellent Xe separation performance can be attributed to the near-perfect size match between the cavity of 8 and Xe atoms. The homochiral cage 8 also allows the separation¹⁸⁴ of a chiral alcohol, 1-phenylethanol, with selectivity for the enantiomer having inverse optical polarization to that of the cage. More recently, a "barely porous" cage (6ET-5-R) was synthesized¹⁸⁷ by the postmodification (Figure 18a) of the reduced imine cage 5. In combination with the nonporous POC (*R*)-6ET-5 and the large-pore imine cage 8, a novel cocrystalline cage 64 was formed, showing (Figure 18b–e) superior selectivity and uptake of the hydrogen isotope, deuterium.

As far as the capture of other industrially prominent gases is concerned, sulfur hexafluoride (SF₆) is a leading candidate on account of the fact that it is a serious threat to the planet,¹⁸⁸ with its greenhouse effect being around 24 times higher than that of CO₂. The imine cage, **8**, exhibits¹⁸⁹ excellent selective adsorption for SF₆ over N₂ (SF₆:N₂ = 178/1, 273 K 1 bar; 74/ 1, 298 K, 1 bar), surpassing most of the reported porous MOFs, such as UiO-66-Zr and Zn-MOF-74. This same cage is also able to separate mesitylene from its structural isomer, 4ethyltoluene, in addition to separating *m*-xylene from *p*xylene.¹⁹⁰ Direct separation was also demonstrated¹⁹¹⁻¹⁹⁴ by the deposition of soluble POCs on gas chromatography (GC) columns. Cage-coated GC columns exhibit extremely high selectivity for the separation of a series of constitutional



Figure 19. (a) Spin-coating of a porous cage solution to afford an ultrathin cage-film layer on a porous substrate. (b) A cross-sectional SEM image of amorphous cages coated on Al_2O_3 support. (c) A cross-sectional SEM image of a 50 nm-thick cage 8 thin film coated on Al_2O_3 support. (d) A cross-sectional SEM image of a 300 nm-thick thin film of 8 coated on an alumina support. (e) Photographs of cage thin films spin-coated on glass slides. Reproduced with permission from ref 212. Copyright 2016 Wiley-VCH.

isomers and organic molecules, such as *n*-alkanes, *n*-alcohols, and aromatic hydrocarbons, with enhanced separation in the case of chiral molecules. In addition, both imine-linked cage¹⁹⁵ **8** and per-ethylated pillar[6]arene¹⁹⁶ showed excellent performance in removing iodine.

5.3. Porous Membranes

On account of their low-cost, energy-saving, and high reliability, membrane separation techniques have been proposed alternatives¹⁹⁷ to conventional thermal separation processes. The key component in membrane separation technology is the filler or matrix materials, which determine the cost, operational reliability, and separation performance. Numerous porous inorganic/organic materials, such as zeolites, ¹⁹⁸ silica, ¹⁹⁹ carbons, ²⁰⁰ MOFs, ²⁰¹ COFs, ²⁰² and polymers, ^{203,204} have been reported for the production of high-performance porous membranes. Most of these porous materials, however, are insoluble in common solvents that can dissolve membrane polymers during their preparation, leading to the uncontrollable distribution of filler materials or unavoidable defects in the resulting membranes. POCs can also serve as ideal fillers or matrix materials in membranes since they exhibit excellent solubility, processability, and porosity. In the event, the POCs offer defect-free porous membranes with homogeneous filler dispersion and good filler-polymer matrix compatibility.

The field of cage-bearing porous membranes is still undergoing development. Recently, computational methods,

including Voronoi network analysis, 205,206 grand canonical Monte Carlo simulations,²⁰⁶ and molecular dynamic simulations,²⁰⁶⁻²⁰⁹ have been used to investigate the benefits of using POCs as filler materials for porous membranes. The results reveal that porous membranes containing POCs can exhibit enhanced selectivity and permeability for gas separations and water desalination, when compared with the corresponding neat polymer matrices. Inspired by these computational investigations, experiments have been carried out to realize cage-containing membranes. In 2012, films of 10-30 molecular layers using seven derivatives of adamantanoid triptycene-based salicylbisimine cages were deposited²¹⁰ on a quartz crystal microbalance, representing the first experimental foray into this emerging field. The microporosity of the cage films has been confirmed by the uptake and release of aromatic guests. The quartz crystal microbalance²¹¹ with deposited cage film is able to detect selectively a target molecule, such as the drug γ -butyrolactone. Furthermore, by using a spin-coating method, researchers have fabricated²¹² (Figure 19) transparent thin films of POCs on different supports, such as glass, silicon, and alumina. The film thickness can be controlled by varying the choice of solvent and the concentration of dissolved POCs. These thin-film composite membranes show molecular-sieving properties and good selectivity toward gases. With a simple dip-coating, the oriented two-dimensional cage layers²¹³ can also be deposited on silicon wafers and glass supports. Their structural defects



Figure 20. (a) Porous liquids obtained by empty, soluble cage molecules with [15]crown-5 as a solvent. (b) The porous liquids show enhanced solubilities for guest gas molecules. Reproduced with permission from ref 224. Copyright 2015 Springer-Nature.

can be observed by atomic force microscopy and the defect concentration can be correlated with the crystallization rate. In addition, imine-based cage membranes can be grown on tubular alumina²¹⁴ by a secondary seeded-growth approach. The resulting membranes were as thin as ~2.5 μ m, and exhibited excellent separations for light gases such as He, CO₂, CH₄, and Kr from Xe. More recently, continuous composite membranes²¹⁵ were fabricated by coating closed packed and defect-free films of cage 8α on polyacrylonitrile (PAN). These membranes (8α /PAN) exhibited excellent permeance to both polar and nonpolar solvents, such as water (43.01 $m^{-2} h^{-1}$ bar⁻¹) and toluene (55.91 m⁻² h⁻¹ bar⁻¹). On the other hand, the cage 8α /PAN membranes could reversibly switch into the less dense crystalline phase, cage $8\gamma'$ /PAN in methanol, which provided effective pore aperture with different selectivities for high water resistance and excellent organic dyes permeation. Consequently, by varying the water/methanol ratio, these cage 8/PAN membranes have been utilized as smart, responsive graded molecular sieving for separating organic molecules of different sizes.

POCs can also be blended with nanoporous polymers to make mixed matrix membranes. Early examples have featured porous membranes^{216,217} by incorporating porous imine cages into a nanoporous organic polymer matrix, leading to significantly enhanced permeabilities for mixed gases while retaining high selectivities. Furthermore, a waterwheel-shaped POC, called Noria, and its derivative, Noria-CO^tBu—a Noria derivative containing *t*-butyl ester groups—have been applied²¹⁸ as filler materials in a fluorine-containing polyimide membrane. The Noria-CO^tBu displayed a higher surface area,

larger pores, and better compatibility with a polyimide matrix when compared to Noria itself, achieving homogeneous dispersion of nanoaggregates and fine adhesion in the resulting membranes. Thus, different performances were exhibited by these two membranes-the Noria-containing polyimide membrane gave an enhancement in CO₂/CH₄ selectivity with a decrease in the CH₄ permeability, while the Noria-Co^tBu-containing polyimide membrane led to higher free volume and gas permeability. Moreover, the vertex-functionalized amorphous scrambled POCs have been exploited²¹⁹ as filler materials in Matrimid and poly(styrene) membranes, respectively. While amorphous organic cages have been dispersed homogeneously throughout the polymer matrix without any phase separation or aggregation, these membranes provide significant enhancements in both permeability and selectivity for gas pairs and organic solvents.

5.4. Porous Liquids

Porosity is a distinctive property that is typically associated only with materials in their solid state. James and coworkers²²⁰ reported in 2007 that porosity can also exist in the liquid state, despite the fact that it is limited to a small transient void within the molecules. In accordance with the empty voids, porous liquids can be categorized²²⁰ as neat liquids comprising fluid hosts with (i) rigid, intrinsic, and empty cavities (type I), (ii) a mixed liquid consisting of dissolved empty hosts (type II), and (iii) consistently dispersed framework materials (type III) in sterically hindered solvents.

Because of their convenience, efficient use, and free-flowing properties, porous liquids have gained attention recently for industrial applications such as gas sorption. POCs are among the most promising classes of tunable pore generators in liquids, owing to their rigid backbones, accessible internal cavities, and good solubilities. The goal is to use a solvent whose molecular size is large enough so as to not penetrate into their cavities, providing a sustainable void in the liquid form. It turns out POCs as pore generators make type II porous liquids. Hemicarcerands, which are strongly chelating and highly flexible porous molecules and were reported by Cram and co-workers²²¹ in 1994, may very well be the first example of porous liquids that illustrate the concept of dissolving POCs in sterically challenging solvents. The cavities of hemicarcerands are large enough to encapsulate small solvent molecules such as dichloromethane and dimethylacetamide (Me₂NCOMe), but too small to accept larger solvents like diphenyl ether. As confirmed by ¹H NMR spectroscopy, Me₂NCOMe molecules inside the cavities of hemicarcerands can be removed completely by heating their inclusion complexes in diphenyl ether for 5 days at 468 K. Although guest-free hemicarcerands dissolved in diphenyl ether behave like a type II porous liquid, there was no direct evidence at the time to prove that the empty cavities of hemicarcerands were retained after the removal of the guest solvent Me₂NCOMe. Most recent experiments have been designed to prove porous liquid behavior by dissolving POCs in sterically hindered solvents. Subsequent attempts, however, failed^{222,223} to prove porosity since the material introduced could not sustain the free voids for a reasonably long time.

Twenty years later in 2015, James and co-workers²²⁴ reported sustained porosity in a type II porous liquid. A tetrahedral POC was functionalized (Figure 20a) with six crown ethers and dissolved at extremely high concentration (44%) in a sterically hindered 15-crown-5 solvent system. The existence of stable voids in porous cages in [15] crown-5 acting as the solvent was confirmed by both molecular dynamic simulations and positron (e^+) annihilation lifetime spectroscopy (PALS) experiments. Furthermore, these authors demonstrated (Figure 20b) that the solubility of guest molecules in such porous liquids can be improved significantly. For example, methane solubility has been increased 8-fold in the porous liquid at 305 K in contrast to the pure [15]crown-5 solvent. In the same investigation,²²⁴ an easy-to-prepare type II porous liquid was synthesized by dissolving a cage mixture in a hexachloropropene, a solvent which is estimated to be too big to enter the pores of the cage. Since there are ample unoccupied cavities in a cage-hexachloropropene solution, the porous liquids show enhanced solubilities for methane, nitrogen, carbon dioxide, and xenon, compared to that of the nonporous pure hexachloropropene solvent.

The thermodynamics and kinetics of gas storage in crownether-cage porous liquids have been investigated²²⁵ by molecular dynamic simulations. The ability of gas capturing depends primarily on the size/shape of the gas molecules and the noncovalent bonding interactions of the corresponding cage with the gas molecules. The former determines the effective use of the cage cavities, while the latter controls the affinity of gas molecules for the cage. Following this concept, the order of gas storage capacity in POCs has been determined to be $CH_4 > CO_2 > N_2$. In 2017, Greenaway et al.²²⁶ explored the development of vertex-disordered porous liquids using a scrambled-cage approach. As a result of studying a total of 150

combinations of different bulky solvents and scrambled cages, it has been suggested that the cage cavities remain empty even in the absence of a suitable guest, and that the liquids adsorb reversibly large quantities of gas, e.g., 72% for Xe and 74% for SF₆. The authors were of the belief that some physical properties of cage solids were translated into the porous liquid, while retaining their gas binding affinity. This explanation, however, was not found to be the valid for every cage. A solid homochiral cage showed enantioselectivity for chiral aromatic alcohols, whereas the corresponding porous liquid exhibited no such selectivity.²²⁷ Consequently, methods have been developed to translate the properties of porous cages into porous liquids. The size restraint from the pore opening is considered a standard approach for tuning the gas selectivity in porous solids. Recently, it was reported²²⁷ that a POC-based, type II porous liquid can switch its selectivity from Xe to CH₄ simply by reducing the cage pore size.

Type I porous liquids, on the other hand, can be formed by the direct liquefication of POCs. James and co-workers^{222,22} found that, if porous imine cages are functionalized with long alkyl chains, they can form neat liquids with low melting points. The tails of the long alkyl chains, however, have been found to occupy the cage cavities, removing the porosity. Surprisingly, in a more recent study,²²⁸ a type I porous liquid has been developed by simply mixing [18]crown-6 as the solvent with an anionic POC. In the resulting charge-neutral porous liquid combined, the anionic parts are from the anionic POCs and cationic parts from [18]crown-6/potassium-ion complexes. The presence of persistent free voids in these simply-made porous liquids was demonstrated by molecular dynamics simulations and PALS experiments. Unlike the pure [18] crown-6 solvent, the porous liquids so obtained showed enhanced affinity for CO₂. It is worth noting that in the preparation of a new generation of porous liquids, POCs and MOFs may complement with each other with their own advantages. POCs are promising for the formation of type I and type II porous liquids owing to their solubility in common solvents. MOFs, on the other hand, feature tunability in pore size and types in their superstructures and their insoluble dispersions²²⁹ make them important candidates for type III porous liquids. In addition, by functionalizing hollow silica spheres with suitable corona and canopy species,²³⁰ type I porous liquids containing silica cavities have been synthesized for gas separation. In combination with POCs, these inorganic analogs are also promising for the new generation of porous liquids, as they usually generate more free volumes in the liquid.

5.5. Heterogeneous Catalysis

Metal nanoparticles have attracted significant attention in the field of catalysis^{164,231–233} as a consequence of their exceptional catalytic performances and recyclability. The controlled synthesis of metal nanoparticles, however, is very challenging since aggregation of the metal nanoparticles driven by their high surface energy is almost unavoidable. Some POCs can stabilize metal nanoparticles by wrapping themselves around them, on account of their versatile functionality, small-sized voids, large surface areas, high porosities, and, most importantly, their excellent solubilities in common solvents. The strong chelating and stable confinement abilities of the small cavities of POCs can be used to isolate ultrafine, uniformly distributed, and highly stable metal nanoparticles. Moreover, POC-stabilized metal nanoparticles offer unique



Figure 21. (a) A reverse double-solvent approach has been developed for encapsulating metal clusters inside the cavities of cage 6 (Figure 3). (b, c) HAADF-STEM Images and (d) particle size of the obtained Pd clusters. The Pd@6 showed excellent catalytic activities for (e) hydrogen generation from ammonia borane, (f) hydrogenation of 4-nitrophenol, and (g) reduction of dyes. Reproduced with permission from ref 245. Copyright 2018 Springer-Nature.

potential because of their similarities to homogeneous catalysts, while providing heterogeneous catalyst-like features on their surfaces.

Even without the metal clusters in their cavities, POCs lend themselves to use as heterogeneous catalysts because of their diverse functionalities. To the best of our knowledge, only two examples of catalysis by POCs themselves have been reported.^{234,235} A proof-of-concept synergistic catalytic system for the cycloaddition of CO₂ and propylene oxide has been reported by Patra and co-workers²³⁴ in which a shapepersistent *N*-rich amine cage, prepared by the reduction of the imine cage 7 (Figure 4), was applied as a catalyst and tetra-*n*butylammonium bromide was used as the cocatalyst. In another example, a porphyrin-based tubular organic cage has been reported²³⁵ for the photocatalytic oxidative coupling of amines under visible light. Unfortunately, the overall catalytic activity was quite low, possibly because POCs contain lots of saturated covalent bonds and are devoid of metal centers.

Imine-based POCs feature cage cavities with ample imine/ amine functionalities that can capture and confine metal nanoparticles efficiently with ultrafine size and unmatched dispersibility. In this regard, a series of palladium (Pd) nanoparticles of varying sizes (1.0 to 3.0 nm) have been synthesized^{236–239} by solution impregnation, where MeOH, NaBH₄, or H₂ was used as a reducing agent. The metal nanoparticles can be (i) anchored on the outer surfaces of imine cages, (ii) positioned on the embedded edges of cage crystals, or (iii) located within the cage cavities. These POCmetal nanoparticle composites display excellent catalytic activities and stabilities for the carbonylation of aryl halides,²³⁶ CO oxidation,²³⁷ Tsuji-Trost allylation,²³⁸ and 4-nitrophenol hydrogenation.²³⁹ In addition, when well-dispersed Rh nanoparticles with an average diameter of 1.1 nm are loaded on the outer surfaces of the imine cage 8 (Figure 4) by a wet chemical reduction method,²⁴⁰ the metal-decorated cage shows excellent catalytic activity for the methanolysis of ammonia-borane and for the hydrogenation of 4-nitrophenol.

In similar fashion, POCs outfitted with thioether,²⁴¹ carbene,²⁴² or phosphine²⁴³ groups can serve as ideal binding centers for metal nanoparticles. For example, uniformly dispersed Pd nanoparticles with an average diameter of 1.8 nm have been incorporated²⁴¹ within the cavities of thioether-functionalized cages, affording high catalytic activity for the Suzuki-Miyaura reaction. Highly dispersed Au nanoparticles ($d = 1.98 \pm 0.3$ nm) have been grown²⁴² within the cavities of polyimidazolium cages featuring ample interior *N*-heterocyclic carbenes, yielding a combination that showed outstanding activity and superior durability for the hydrogenation of 4-nitroaniline affording 4-phenylenediamine. Well-dispersed Pd nanoparticles ($d = 1.7 \pm 0.3$ nm) have been confined within a new phosphine-bearing cage,²⁴³ revealing superior catalytic activity and stability in a series of aryl halide cross-coupling reactions.

In the context of strong electrostatic attraction and repulsion, charged organic cages also provide ideal platforms for the stabilization of metal nanoparticles. By simple anion exchange, various noble-metal clusters (<1 nm) have been encapsulated within an ionic organic cage,²⁴⁴ which displays

excellent catalytic activity for the hydrolysis of ammoniaborane to generate hydrogen.

In addition to the individual functional groups on POCs, the hydrophobic nature of cage cavities is also found to be quite useful in phase separating substrates during catalysis. In 2018, Xu and co-workers^{24,5} reported (Figure 21) a novel reverse double-solvent approach for encapsulating ultrafine (~0.7 nm), well-dispersed and highly stable Pd clusters inside the reduced imine cage **6** (Figure 3). Surprisingly, the resulting Pd clusters exhibit excellent catalytic activity and selectivity for a series of liquid-phase catalytic reactions, including the methanolysis of ammonia-borane, hydrogenation of nitroarenes, and reduction of organic dyes.

Cage-confined metal nanoparticles have also shown promise in photocatalytic reactions. Recently, by using the encapsulation strategy, highly dispersed Au, Ag, and Pd nanoparticles have been developed for photocatalytic reactions, such as the selective reduction of nitroarenes to azo compounds,²⁴⁶ the sequential reactions of aerobic hydroxylation,²⁴⁷ and hydride reduction of 4-nitrophenylboronic acid.²⁴⁸ Furthermore, by depositing Pd nanoparticles, stabilized by POCs (based on cryptands) onto graphitic carbon nitride (g-C₃N₄), a new type of Pd@cryptand/g-C₃N₄ photocatalyst has been obtained,²⁴⁹ leading to outstanding activity for hydrogen production from water with long-term durability.

Recently, cage-confined metal nanoparticles have been used in electrocatalytic reactions. In one report,²⁵⁰ monodispersed ferrihydrite nanoparticles ($d = 1.9 \pm 0.3$ nm), encapsulated within organic cages by *in situ* nucleation combined with air oxidation, showed excellent redox activity in MeCN. In another report,²⁵¹ a highly dispersed Ru@cage 6 catalyst, fabricated by the reverse double-solvent approach,²⁴⁵ has endowed Li–O₂ batteries with high specific capacity, high-rate capability, and long-term stability.

5.6. Other Applications

The cavities of POCs with precise sizes and shapes can be used as microreactors for chemical reactions. The reactive species can be stabilized for a long time owing to pore confinement. For example, highly strained and reactive Bredt olefins are usually unstable in solution with a lifetime of a few minutes. Warmuth and co-workers²⁵² have reported hemicarcerand cages, synthesized through the assembly of a cavitand and propylenediamine in water in the presence of 3-noradamantyldiazirine as a template, followed by the encapsulation of protoadamantene within their cavities by the irradiation of its precursor in the form of a trapped diazirine template. The protoadamantene shows high stability in (CD₃)₂SO/CD₃CN for several days at room temperature as a result of protection by the surrounding cage. In addition, the radical polymerization of styrene has been achieved²⁵³ within the tetrahedral imine cage (Figure 4) with extrinsic porosity. The polymerization is highly reliant on the crystallinity of the cage 8 and is promoted by the flexible cage-packing structure resulting from the adsorption of styrene monomers.

In common with MOFs and COFs, POCs can be employed as candidates in proton-conducting materials. Liu et al.²⁵⁴ have reported the synthesis of ionic cages from the hydration of the reduced imine cage 6 (Figure 3), which has a superior proton conductivity when compared to that of Nafion. Moreover, a novel proton-exchange membrane was designed by implementing solution-blowing of sulfonated poly(ether sulfone) (SPES) nanofibers containing the porous imine cage 8 and subsequent

filling by a Nafion solution in the interfiber voids.²⁵⁵ With the unique synergistic effect of the cage 8@SPES nanofibers and Nafion, this membrane exhibited high photon conductivity, high water absorption, high thermal stability, and low MeOH permeability.

POCs have been explored for the efficient transport of lithium ions in batteries. The solid-liquid electrolyte nanocomposites²⁵⁶ consisting of a bis(trifluoromethane)sulfonamide lithium salt (LiTFSI)/1,2-dimethoxyethane (DME) electrolyte solution and kinetically trapped tetrahedral cages (Td_A^{257}) have been fabricated for lithium-ion batteries, which displayed an exceptional conductivity of 1×10^{-3} S cm⁻¹ and a low activation energy of 16 kJ mol⁻¹ at room temperature, as well as excellent oxidative stability up to 4.7 V. The POC-based ionic conductor,²⁵⁸ Li-RCC1-ClO₄, has been developed for solid-state lithium batteries. The unique solution-processability advantage of such Li⁺-conducting POCs facilitated the formation of highly efficient ionconducting networks on cathode surface through recrystallization and growth during a slurry-coating process. As expected, the resulting batteries showed low polarization and good cyclability at room temperature.

In addition to proton and Li⁺ transport, POCs have great potential in water transport. In an early study,²⁵⁹ cage **8** exhibited excellent water uptake (up to 20.1 wt %) and high stability in boiling water (>4 h). In 2020, Zhao's group²⁶⁰ have found the fast water permeance and high rejection of small cations/anions of various zero-dimensional POCs with nanopores through experiments and simulations. Pore window size, structural rigidity, hydrophilicity, and ability to form interconnected channel networks were responsible for their water- and ion-transport capability. These POCs have great potential in desalination applications due to their unique solution processability for the preparation of homogeneous, composite membranes.

Based on good biocompatibility and low biotoxicity, POCs have been extended to the biological sciences. Peng and Li's group²⁶¹ have encapsulated Pt nanoclusters within pores of the soluble protonated cage **5** (Pt-*in*-(HR)CC3), which revealed superior effects in short-term and long-term cancer radio-therapy. In addition, inspired by concept of aggregation-induced emission (AIE), the AIE-active positively charged R(+)-TPE-cage has been constructed by acidification of a reduced [6 + 8]-type TPE-cage.²⁶² The as-obtained AIE-active R(+)-TPE-cage displayed excellent external stimuli (temperature and viscosity) and highly efficient live-cell imaging.

Recently, the design and development of artificial molecular machines²⁶³⁻²⁶⁵ to simulate various functions of biomacromolecules in living organisms has become one of the contemporary research themes for biologists, chemists, and materials scientists. For example, mechanically interlocked molecules,²⁶⁶ such as catenanes²⁶⁷ and rotaxanes,²⁶⁸ have been explored extensively as artificial molecular machines on the basis of using energy imparted by external stimuli-such as light, redox potential, and chemical reagents-to maintain their nonequilibrium steady state.^{269,270} By using the encapsulation and postmodification strategies, POCs are destined to have broad applications in providing frameworks for housing artificial molecular machines, considering their unique features, e.g., the discrete molecular structures, large guest-accessible cavities, abundant interconnected pores, tunable inner microenvironments, and excellent solubility in common solvents. Since POCs have not yet been integrated

with artificial molecular machines, we will limit this discussion to three groundbreaking examples that may inspire readers. One²⁷¹ is the development of a mechanically interlocked suit[3]ane that consists of a benzotrithiophene derivative with three protruding alkyl chains as the body and a 3-fold symmetric, extended pyridinium-based cage as the suit. When the cage as suit is fitted appropriately around the body, this unstable molecule with three flexible alkyl chains as its protruding limbs shows very high stability in CD₃CN at 100 °C for 7 days. This observation suggests that POCs could be candidates for housing artificial molecular machines with flexible extended limbs and mechanical stability under harsh conditions. The second one²⁷² is the formation of dimeric and trimeric catenated cage cubes based on the weak interactions of the substituents (methoxy or thiomethyl groups) of the constituent 1,4-disubstituted terephthaldehydes in combination with solvophobic effects. These interlocked cage structures are very promising for future molecular switches or machines. In addition, Yuan and co-workers²⁷³ have engineered a "smart" catalytic system by locking catalytically active metal clusters within discrete cationic POCs, in which the counteranions provide the external stimuli before being passed along to trapped metal clusters. By employing external light and pH stimuli, this system shows excellent programmable activity control in various liquid-phase catalytic reactions. This result could inspire us to construct "smart" molecular machines for various chemical syntheses.

6. OUTLOOK AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The design and development of POCs with unique architectures and rich functionalities has become a rewarding new direction in the fields of chemistry, materials science, nanoscience, and nanotechnology. The recent surge in their development has benefited from breakthroughs in advanced analytical techniques, particularly in gas-adsorption and X-ray diffraction techniques. In this regard, there are already a few published reviews.^{12,13,21,23,24,26,42,274–277} Some of these reviews have focused on special types of POCs, such as multiporphyrinic⁴² or imine^{275,276} cages, while others have summarized the advent of new porous organic materials, ^{12,13,26} involving POCs only in part. Others have covered one special aspect—for example, unique synthetic approaches,^{21–23,277} narrow functionalization angles,²⁴ or small applications scope.²⁷⁴ In this review, we have described in detail the recent discoveries surrounding POCs as a result of their strategic design, precise synthesis, advanced characterization, and innovative applications. We believe that this relatively new class of porous materials can rival MOFs, COFs, and POPs in porosity and functionality. In addition, POCs offer new opportunities for applications in (mixed) films/membranes, porous liquids, and the homogenization of heterogeneous catalysts, mainly because of their outstanding solution processability. The field, however, is still immature and faces considerable challenges going forward. One stumbling block is the lack of a universal synthetic protocol. Irreversible linking chemistry produces robust POCs in quite low yields under kinetic control, while dynamic covalent chemistry provides high-yielding POCs but with low chemical and thermal stability since they are thermodynamically controlled products. This dichotomy constitutes a serious flaw since many industrial applications require both stability and scalability, with reactions taking place under harsh conditions-such as high temperature, pressure, acidity or alkalinity-while at the same

time requiring kilogram-levels of materials at a minimum. It follows that it is highly desirable to develop versatile, highyielding synthetic approaches for the construction of robust POCs.

Metal-free POCs, endowed with large pores and cavities in addition to unique functional backbones, can provide highquality single crystals, which can be applied as excellent platforms in photoluminescence, drug delivery, photocatalytic and electronic applications. The one-pot, controllable synthesis of large single-crystal POCs, however, is still challenging. To add insult to injury, the key principles for POC cyclization and the understanding of structure-property relationships have not yet been elucidated. One approach could be to construct large single POC crystals by using standard, well-developed methods of organic crystal growth. Another approach could be to monitor closely the steps of cyclization and pore generation by using state-of-the-art optics, in situ, operando, or other innovative observation techniques. In addition, the retention of porosity of POCs after desolvation remains unresolved. While some molecular cages are robust after desolvation, most of them are much more delicate, and techniques such as supercritical drying or careful solvent exchange are required. New, facile, and general approaches are highly anticipated for solving such problems.

Computational chemistry is a facile and essential tool in modern science for predicting and designing POCs with particular functions. Unlike in the case of extended porous frameworks, computational investigations for POCs are rarely reported. One reason is that single-crystal structure prediction requires high-level calculations, which are not affordable to all researchers. Another reason is that crystal structure prediction of POCs remains a challenge for the future, particularly for cages that are not rigid. In this regard, POC-based systems are different than MOFs and COFs since there is no generalizable "isoreticular" strategy. It is both an advantage and a challenge—e.g., the interconverting polymorphs for switchable membranes²¹⁵ makes de novo design a little more challenging. More reliable motifs are needed for supramolecular crystal design. One possible strategy is to place directing groups on the cage periphery such as in hydrogen-bonded organic frameworks (HOFs). New theoretical algorithms, simulations, theories, and methods are highly desirable when it comes to calculating complex guest-host interactions and bondformation kinetics associated with POCs.

Although the applications of POCs in porous liquids and heterogeneous catalysis are still in their infancy, interest is set to rise going forward. In addition, the pore mechanism and synergistic interactions of cage and metal nanoparticles are not yet well established. Advanced visual observations will prove vital in the pursuit of these applications. In the meantime, the scope of POCs can be expanded based on new insights for understanding their solution behavior and processability.

In conclusion, thanks to the unwavering efforts of scientists of different persuasions, POCs have made significant inroads into finding uses. Sustainable research in this new area is clearly on the horizon with unique applications in industry, energy, and the environment looming large.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Authors

J. Fraser Stoddart – Department of Chemistry, Northwestern University, Evanston, Illinois 60208, United States; School of Chemistry, University of New South Wales, Sydney, New South Wales 2052, Australia; Stoddart Institute of Molecular Science, Department of Chemistry, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310027, China; ZJU-Hangzhou Global Scientific and Technological Innovation Center, Hangzhou 311215, China; orcid.org/0000-0003-3161-3697; Emersil. etc. detate or arthumaters adu

Email: stoddart@northwestern.edu

Cafer T. Yavuz – Oxide & Organic Nanomaterials for Energy & Environment Laboratory, Physical Science & Engineering (PSE), King Abdullah University of Science and Technology (KAUST), Thuwal 23955, Saudi Arabia; Advanced Membranes & Porous Materials Center, PSE, KAUST, Thuwal 23955, Saudi Arabia; KAUST Catalysis Center, PSE, KAUST, Thuwal 23955, Saudi Arabia; orcid.org/ 0000-0003-0580-3331; Email: cafer.yavuz@kaust.edu.sa

Authors

- Xinchun Yang Faculty of Materials Science and Energy Engineering/Institute of Technology for Carbon Neutrality and Shenzhen Key Laboratory of Energy Materials for Carbon Neutrality, Shenzhen Institute of Advanced Technology (SIAT), Chinese Academy of Sciences (CAS), Shenzhen 518055, China
- Zakir Ullah Convergence Research Center for Insect Vectors, Division of Life Sciences, College of Life Sciences and Bioengineering, Incheon National University, Incheon 22012, South Korea; orcid.org/0000-0001-8647-1986

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.2c00667

Author Contributions

[#]X.Y. and Z.U. contributed equally to this work. CRediT: **Xinchun Yang** conceptualization, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; **Zakir Ullah** conceptualization, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; **J. Fraser Stoddart** conceptualization, writing-original draft, writingreview & editing; **Cafer T. Yavuz** conceptualization, funding acquisition, project administration, resources, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Xinchun Yang received his PhD degree in Chemical Science and Engineering from Kobe University in 2018 and then served as a postdoctoral researcher at the National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology (AIST, Kansai center), Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (KAIST), and Ulsan National Institute of Science and Technology (UNIST) from 2018 to 2021. He is currently an associate professor at the SIAT, CAS. His research interest focuses on the development of porous and nanostructured materials for clean energy.

Zakir Ullah received his PhD degree in Chemistry from KAIST and currently is a research professor at Incheon National University (INU), South Korea. His research includes functional porous materials, biosensor development, and DFT calculations.

J. Fraser Stoddart received all (BSc, PhD, DSc) of his degrees from the University of Edinburgh in the United Kingdom. He currently holds a Board of Trustees Professorship in the Department of Chemistry at Northwestern University. His research in molecular nanotechnology involves the synthesis and self-assembly of mechanically interlocked molecules, which have found their way into molecular electronic devices and artificial molecular machines.

Cafer T. Yavuz received his PhD from Rice University in 2008 with a Welch scholarship and was a postdoctoral researcher at UCSB (2008–2010). He was a faculty member at KAIST from 2010 to 2020. Currently, he is a professor of chemistry at KAUST with a research focus on nano and porous materials design and synthesis for applications in the environment, particularly for CO_2 capture and conversion.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work was supported by funds provided by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (22201294), the Joint Interdisciplinary Research Project of SIAT (E25427), and King Abdullah University of Science and Technology (KAUST). X.C. thanks to the Shenzhen Key Laboratory of Energy Materials for Carbon Neutrality for financial support. Z.U. thanks to the Priority Research Centers Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF 2020R1A6A1A03041954).

REFERENCES

 Harris, P. On Charcoal. Interdiscip. Sci. Rev. 1999, 24, 301–306.
 Walsh, D.; Arcelli, L.; Ikoma, T.; Tanaka, J.; Mann, S. Dextran Templating for the Synthesis of Metallic and Metal Oxide Sponges. Nat. Mater. 2003, 2, 386–390.

(3) Perego, C.; Millini, R. Porous Materials in Catalysis: Challenges for Mesoporous Materials. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2013**, *42*, 3956–3976.

(4) Deng, Y.; Dewil, R.; Appels, L.; Ansart, R.; Baeyens, J.; Kang, Q. Reviewing the Thermo-Chemical Recycling of Waste Polyurethane Foam. *J. Environ. Manage.* **2021**, *278*, 111527.

(5) Kitagawa, S.; Matsuda, R. Chemistry of Coordination Space of Porous Coordination Polymers. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* 2007, 251, 2490–2509.

(6) Jiang, Y.; Jung, H.; Joo, S. H.; Sun, Q. K.; Li, C. Q.; Noh, H. J.; Oh, I.; Kim, Y. J.; Kwak, S. K.; Yoo, J. W.; et al. Catalyst- and Solvent-Free Synthesis of a Chemically Stable Aza-Bridged Bis-(phenanthroline) Macrocycle-Linked Covalent Organic Framework. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 17191–17197.

(7) Patel, H.; Je, S. H.; Park, J.; Chen, D. P.; Jung, Y.; Yavuz, C. T.; Coskun, A. Unprecedented High-Temperature CO₂ Selectivity in N₂phobic Nanoporous Covalent Organic Polymers. *Nat. Commun.* **2013**, *4*, 1357.

(8) Slater, A. G.; Cooper, A. I. Function-Led Design of New Porous Materials. *Science* **2015**, *348*, aaa8075.

(9) Gui, B.; Lin, G.; Ding, H.; Gao, C.; Mal, A.; Wang, C. Three-Dimensional Covalent Organic Frameworks: From Topology Design to Applications. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2020**, *53*, 2225–2234.

(10) Nguyen, T. S.; Yavuz, C. T. Quantifying the Nitrogen Effect on CO_2 Capture Using Isoporous Network Polymers. *Chem. Commun.* **2020**, *56*, 4273–4275.

(11) Hong, Y.; Thirion, D.; Subramanian, S.; Yoo, M.; Choi, H.; Kim, H. Y.; Stoddart, F.; Yavuz, C. T. Precious Metal Recovery from Electronic Waste by a Porous Porphyrin Polymer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2020**, *117*, 16174–16180.

(12) Beuerle, F.; Gole, B. Covalent Organic Frameworks and Cage Compounds: Design and Applications of Polymeric and Discrete Organic Scaffolds. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2018**, *57*, 4850–4878.

(13) Das, S.; Heasman, P.; Ben, T.; Qiu, S. Porous Organic Materials: Strategic Design and Structure-Function Correlation. *Chem. Rev.* **2017**, *117*, 1515–1563.

(14) Pachfule, P.; Shinde, D.; Majumder, M.; Xu, Q. Fabrication of Carbon Nanorods and Graphene Nanoribbons from a Metal-Organic Framework. *Nat. Chem.* **2016**, *8*, 718–724.

(15) Das, R.; Pachfule, P.; Banerjee, R.; Poddar, P. Metal and Metal Oxide Nanoparticle Synthesis from Metal Organic Frameworks (MOFs): Finding the Border of Metal and Metal Oxide. *Nanoscale* 2012, 4, 591-599.

(16) Yang, X.; Chen, L.; Liu, H.; Kurihara, T.; Horike, S.; Xu, Q. Encapsulating Ultrastable Metal Nanoparticles within Reticular Schiff Base Nanospaces. *Cell Rep. Phys. Sci.* **2021**, *2*, 100289.

(17) Huang, H.; Shen, K.; Chen, F.; Li, Y. Metal-Organic Frameworks as a Good Platform for the Fabrication of Single-Atom Catalysts. *ACS Catal.* **2020**, *10*, 6579–6586.

(18) Jiang, J.; Zhao, Y.; Yaghi, O. M. Covalent Chemistry Beyond Molecules. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138, 3255–3265.

(19) Yang, X.; Xu, Q. Bimetallic Metal-Organic Frameworks for Gas Storage and Separation. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2017**, *17*, 1450–1455.

(20) Ma, K.; Li, P.; Xin, J. H.; Chen, Y.; Chen, Z.; Goswami, S.; Liu, X.; Kato, S.; Chen, H.; Zhang, X.; et al. Ultrastable Mesoporous Hydrogen-Bonded Organic Framework-Based Fiber Composites Toward Mustard Gas Detoxification. *Cell Rep. Phys. Sci.* **2020**, *1*, 100024.

(21) Huang, S.-L.; Jin, G.-X.; Luo, H.-K.; Hor, T. S. A. Engineering Organic Macrocycles and Cages: Versatile Bonding Approaches. *Chem. Asian J.* 2015, *10*, 24–42.

(22) Zhang, G.; Mastalerz, M. Organic Cage Compounds - From Shape-Persistency to Function. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2014, 43, 1934–1947.
(23) Hasell, T.; Cooper, A. I. Porous Organic Cages: Soluble, Modular and Molecular Pores. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* 2016, 1, 16053.

(24) Monta-Gonzalez, G.; Sancenon, F.; Martinez-Manez, R.; Marti-Centelles, V. Purely Covalent Molecular Cages and Containers for Guest Encapsulation. *Chem. Rev.* **2022**, *122*, 13636–13708.

(25) Evans, J. D.; Jelfs, K. E.; Day, G. M.; Doonan, C. J. Application of Computational Methods to the Design and Characterisation of Porous Molecular Materials. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2017**, *46*, 3286–3301.

(26) Little, M. A.; Cooper, A. I. The Chemistry of Porous Organic Molecular Materials. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2020**, *30*, 1909842.

(27) Zhang, G.; Ding, Y.; Hashem, A.; Fakim, A.; Khashab, N. M. Xylene Isomer Separations by Intrinsically Porous Molecular Materials. *Cell Rep. Phys. Sci.* **2021**, *2*, 100470.

(28) Baroncini, M.; d'Agostino, S.; Bergamini, G.; Ceroni, P.; Comotti, A.; Sozzani, P.; Bassanetti, I.; Grepioni, F.; Hernandez, T. M.; Silvi, S.; Venturi, M.; Credi, A. Photoinduced Reversible Switching of Porosity in Molecular Crystals Based on Star-Shaped Azobenzene Tetramers. *Nat. Chem.* **2015**, *7*, 634–640.

(29) Titus, S.; Sreejalekshmi, K. G. Propeller-Shaped Molecules with a Thiazole Hub: Structural Landscape and Hydrazone Cap Mediated Tunable Host Behavior in 4-Hydrazion-1,3-thiazoles. *CrystEngComm* **2015**, *17*, 5978–5986.

(30) Zhang, Y.; Calupitan, J. P.; Rojas, T.; Tumbleson, R.; Erbland, G.; Kammerer, T.; Ajayi, M.; Wang, S.; Curtiss, L. A.; Ngo, A. T.; et al. A Chiral Molecular Propeller Designed for Unidirectional Rotations on a Surface. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 3742.

(31) Kohl, B.; Rominger, F.; Mastalerz, M. Crystal Structures of a Molecule Designed Not to Pack Tightly. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2015**, *21*, 17308–17313.

(32) Lü, J.; Cao, R. Porous Organic Molecular Frameworks with Extrinsic Porosity: A Platform for Carbon Storage and Separation. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 9474–9480.

(33) Barrer, R. M.; Shanson, V. H. Dianin's Compound as a Zeolitic Sorbent. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1976, 9, 333–334.

(34) Lee, F.; Gabe, E.; Tse, J. S.; Ripmeester, J. A. Crystal Structure, CP/MAS Xeon-129 and Carbon-13 NMR of Local Ordering in Dianin's Compound Clathrates. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1988**, *110*, 6014–6019.

(35) Kudo, H.; Hayashi, R.; Mitani, K.; Yokozawa, T.; Kasuga, N. C.; Nishikubo, T. Molecular Waterwheel (Noria) from a Simple Condensation of Resorcinol and an Alkanedial. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45*, 7948–7952.

(36) Couderc, G.; Hertzsch, T.; Behrnd, N. R.; Kramer, K.; Hulliger, J. Reversible Sorption of Nitrogen and Xenon Gas by the Guest-Free Zeolite Tris(*o*-phenylenedioxy)cyclotriphosphazene (TPP). *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2006**, *88*, 170–175.

(37) Bezzu, C. G.; Helliwell, M.; Warren, J. E.; Allan, D. R.; McKeown, N. B. Heme-Like Coordination Chemistry within Nanoporous Molecular Crystals. *Science* **2010**, 327, 1627–1630.

(38) Lin, R. B.; He, Y.; Li, P.; Wang, H.; Zhou, W.; Chen, B. Multifunctional Porous Hydrogen-Bonded Organic Framework Materials. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2019**, *48*, 1362–1389.

(39) Gosselin, E. J.; Rowland, C. A.; Bloch, E. D. Permanently Microporous Metal-Organic Polyhedra. *Chem. Rev.* **2020**, *120*, 8987– 9014.

(40) Olenyuk, B.; Whiteford, J. A.; Fechtenkotter, A.; Stang, P. J. Self-Assembly of Nanoscale Cuboctahedra by Coordination Chemistry. *Nature* **1999**, *398*, 796–799.

(41) Fujita, M.; Oguro, D.; Miyazawa, M.; Oka, H.; Yamaguchi, K.; Ogura, K. Self-Assembly of Ten Molecules into Nanometre-Sized Organic Host Frameworks. *Nature* **1995**, *378*, 469–471.

(42) Durot, S.; Taesch, J.; Heitz, V. Multiporphyrinic Cages: Architectures and Functions. *Chem. Rev.* **2014**, *114*, 8542–8578.

(43) Lorzing, G. R.; Trump, B. A.; Brown, C. M.; Bloch, E. D. Selective Gas Adsorption in Highly Porous Chromium(II)-Based Metal-Organic Polyhedra. *Chem. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 8583–8587.

(44) Xue, Y.; Hang, X.; Ding, J.; Li, B.; Zhu, R.; Pang, H.; Xu, Q. Catalysis within Coordination Cages. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* 2021, 430, 213656.

(45) Zhu, C. Y.; Pan, M.; Su, C. Y. Metal-Organic Cages for Biomedical Applications. *Isr. J. Chem.* **2019**, *59*, 209–219.

(46) Högberg, H. E.; Thulin, B.; Wennerström, O. Bicyclophanehexaene, a New Case Cyclophane from A Sixfold Wittig Reaction. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1977**, *18*, 931–934.

(47) Kiggen, W.; Vögtle, F. Functionalized, Oligocyclic Large Cavities - A Novel Siderophore. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **1984**, 23, 714–715.

(48) Tian, J.; Thallapally, P. K.; Dalgarno, S. J.; McGrail, P. B.; Atwood, J. L. Amorphous Molecular Organic Solids for Gas Adsorption. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 5492–5495.

(49) Mastalerz, M. One-Pot Synthesis of a Shape-Persistent Endo-Functionalized Nano-Sized Adamantoid Compound. *Chem. Commun.* **2008**, 4756–4758.

(50) Tozawa, T.; Jones, J. T. A.; Swamy, S. I.; Jiang, S.; Adams, D. J.; Shakespeare, S.; Clowes, R.; Bradshaw, D.; Hasell, T.; Chong, S. Y.; et al. Porous Organic Cages. *Nat. Mater.* **2009**, *8*, 973–978.

(51) Jelfs, K. E.; Cooper, A. I. Molecular Simulations to Understand and to Design Porous Organic Molecules. *Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci.* 2013, 17, 19–30.

(52) Zhang, L.; Jin, Y.; Tao, G.-H.; Gong, Y.; Hu, Y.; He, L.; Zhang, W. Desymmetrized Vertex Design toward a Molecular Cage with Unusual Topology. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 20846–20851.

(53) Jelfs, K. E.; Wu, X.; Schmidtmann, M.; Jones, J. T. A.; Warren, J. E.; Adams, D. J.; Cooper, A. I. Large Self-Assembled Chiral Organic Cages: Synthesis, Structure, and Shape Persistence. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 10653–10656.

(54) Wang, Q.; Yu, C.; Zhang, C.; Long, H.; Azarnoush, S.; Jin, Y.; Zhang, W. Dynamic Covalent Synthesis of Aryleneethynylene Cages through Alkyne Metathesis: Dimer, Tetramer, or Interlocked Complex? *Chem. Sci.* **2016**, *7*, 3370–3376.

(55) Jin, Y.; Jin, A.; McCaffrey, R.; Long, H.; Zhang, W. Design Strategies for Shape-Persistent Covalent Organic Polyhedrons (COPs) through Imine Condensation/Metathesis. *J. Org. Chem.* **2012**, 77, 7392–7400.

(56) Xu, D.; Warmuth, R. Edge-Directed Dynamic Covalent Synthesis of a Chiral Nanocube. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 7520–7521.

(57) Avellaneda, A.; Valente, P.; Burgun, A.; Evans, J. D.; Markwell-Heys, A. W.; Rankine, D.; Nielsen, D. J.; Hill, M. R.; Sumby, C. J.; Doonan, C. J. Kinetically Controlled Porosity in a Robust Organic Cage Material. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 3746–3749.

(58) Zhang, C.; Chen, C. F. Synthesis and Structure of a Triptycene-Based Nanosized Molecular Cage. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 9339– 9341. (59) Bhat, A. S.; Elbert, S. M.; Zhang, W.-S.; Rominger, F.; Dieckmann, M.; Schroder, R. R.; Mastalerz, M. Transformation of a [4 + 6] Salicylbisimine Cage to Chemically Robust Amide Cages. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 8819–8823.

(60) Dubost, E.; Dognon, J.-P.; Rousseau, B.; Milanole, G.; Dugave, C.; Boulard, Y.; Léonce, E.; Boutin, C.; Berthault, P. Understanding a Host-Guest Model System through ¹²⁹Xe NMR Spectroscopic Experiments and Theoretical Studies. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2014**, *53*, 9837–9840.

(61) Ono, K.; Johmoto, K.; Yasuda, N.; Uekusa, H.; Fujii, S.; Kiguchi, M.; Iwasawa, N. Self-Assembly of Nanometer-Sized Boroxine Cages from Diboronic acids. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137*, 7015–7018.

(62) Wang, Q.; Zhang, C.; Noll, B. C.; Long, H.; Jin, Y.; Zhang, W. A Tetrameric Cage with D_{2h} Symmetry through Alkyne Metathesis. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2014**, *53*, 10663–10667.

(63) Lee, S.; Yang, A.; Moneypenny, T. P.; Moore, J. S. Kinetically Trapped Tetrahedral Cage via Alkyne Metathesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 2182–2185.

(64) Liu, M.; Little, M. A.; Jelfs, K. E.; Jones, J. T. A.; Schmidtmann, M.; Chong, S. Y.; Hasell, T.; Cooper, A. I. Acid- and Base-Stable Porous Organic Cages: Shape Persistence and pH Stability via Post-Synthetic "Tying" of a Flexible Amine Cage. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 7583–7586.

(65) Jin, Y.; Wang, Q.; Taynton, P.; Zhang, W. Dynamic Covalent Chemistry Approaches toward Macrocycles, Molecular Cages, and Polymers. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2014**, *47*, 1575–1586.

(66) Lei, Y.; Chen, Q.; Liu, P.; Wang, L.; Wang, H.; Li, B.; Lu, X.; Chen, Z.; Pan, Y.; Huang, F.; Li, H. Molecular Cages Self-Assembled by Imine Condensation in Water. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 4705–4711.

(67) Hasell, T.; Wu, X.; Jones, J. T. A.; Bacsa, J.; Steiner, A.; Mitra, T.; Trewin, A.; Adams, D. J.; Cooper, A. I. Triply Interlocked Covalent Organic Cages. *Nat. Chem.* **2010**, *2*, 750–755.

(68) Zhang, S. Y.; Miao, H.; Zhang, H.; Zhou, J.; Zhuang, Q.; Zeng, Y.; Gao, Z.; Yuan, J.; Sun, J. K. Accelerating Crystallization of Open Organic Materials by Poly(ionic liquid)s. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, 132, 22293–22300.

(69) Li, W.; Grimme, S.; Krieg, H.; Möllmann, J.; Zhang, J. Accurate Computation of Gas Uptake in Microporous Organic Molecular Crystals. J. Phys. Chem. C 2012, 116, 8865–8871.

(70) Waller, M. P.; Kruse, H.; Mück-Lichtenfeld, C.; Grimme, S. Investigating Inclusion Complexes using Quantum Chemical Methods. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2012**, *41*, 3119–3128.

(71) Düren, T.; Bae, Y.-S.; Snurr, R. Q. Using Molecular Simulation to Characterise Metal-Organic Frameworks for Adsorption Applications. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2009**, *38*, 1237–1247.

(72) Krishna, R. Diffusion in Porous Crystalline Materials. *Chem.* Soc. Rev. 2012, 41, 3099–3118.

(73) Jones, J. T. A.; Hasell, T.; Wu, X.; Bacsa, J.; Jelfs, K. E.; Schmidtmann, M. Modular and Predictable Assembly of Porous Organic Molecular Crystals. *Nature* **2011**, 474, 367–371.

(74) Pyzer-Knapp, E. O.; Thompson, H. P. G.; Schiffmann, F.; Jelfs, K. E.; Chong, S. Y.; Little, M. A.; Cooper, A. I.; Day, G. M. Predicted Crystal Energy Landscapes of Porous Organic Cages. *Chem. Sci.* **2014**, *5*, 2235–2245.

(75) Jelfs, K. E.; Eden, E. G. B.; Culshaw, J. L.; Shakespeare, S.; Pyzer-Knapp, E. O.; Thompson, H. P. G.; Bacsa, J.; Day, G. M.; Adams, D. J.; Cooper, A. I. *In Silico* Design of Supramolecules from Their Precursors: Odd-Even Effects in Cage-Forming Reactions. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 9307–9310.

(76) Slater, A. G.; Reiss, P. S.; Pulido, A.; Little, M. A.; Holden, D. L.; Chen, L.; Chong, S. Y.; Alston, B. M.; Clowes, R.; Haranczyk, M.; et al. Computationally-Guided Synthetic Control over Pore Size in Isostructural Porous Organic Cages. *ACS Cent. Sci.* **2017**, *3*, 734–742. (77) Holden, D.; Chong, S. Y.; Chen, L.; Jelfs, K. E.; Hasell, T.; Cooper, A. I. Understanding Static, Dynamic and Cooperative Porosity in Molecular Materials. *Chem. Sci.* **2016**, *7*, 4875–4879.

(78) Jones, J. T. A.; Holden, D.; Mitra, T.; Hasell, T.; Adams, D. J.; Jelfs, K. E.; Trewin, A.; Willock, D. J.; Day, G. M.; Bacsa, J.; et al. On-Off Porosity Switching in a Molecular Organic Solid. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 749–753.

(79) Santolini, V.; Miklitz, M.; Berardo, E.; Jelfs, K. E. Topological Landscapes of Porous Organic Cages. *Nanoscale* **201**7, *9*, 5280–5298. (80) Jackson, E.; Miklitz, M.; Song, Q.; Tribello, G. A.; Jelfs, K. E. Computational Evolution of the Diffusion Mechanisms for C8 Aromatics in Porous Organic Cages. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2019**, *123*, 21011–21021.

(81) Greenaway, R. L.; Santolini, V.; Bennison, M. J.; Alston, B. M.; Pugh, C. J.; Little, M. A.; Miklitz, M.; Eden-Rump, E. G. B.; Clowes, R.; Shakil, A.; et al. High-Throughput Discovery of Organic Cages and Catenanes using Computational Screening Fused with Robotic Synthesis. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 2849.

(82) Berardo, E.; Greenaway, R. L.; Turcani, L.; Alston, B. M.; Bennison, M. J.; Miklitz, M.; Clowes, R.; Briggs, M. E.; Cooper, A. I.; Jelfs, K. E. Computationally-Inspired Discovery of an Unsymmetrical Porous Organic Cage. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 22381–22388.

(83) Kravchenko, O.; Varava, A.; Pokorny, F. T.; Devaurs, D.; Kavraki, L. E.; Kragic, D. A Robotics-Inspired Screening Algorithm for Molecular Caging Prediction. *J. Chem. Inf. Model.* **2020**, *60*, 1302–1316.

(84) Turcani, L.; Greenaway, R. L.; Jelfs, K. E. Machine Learning for Organic Cage Property Prediction. *Chem. Mater.* 2019, 31, 714–727.
(85) McMurry, T. J.; Rodgers, S. J.; Raymond, K. N. Template and Stepwise Syntheses of a Macrobicyclic Catechoylamide Ferric Ion

Sequestering Agent. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3451-3453. (86) Safarowsky, O.; Nieger, M.; Fröhlich, R.; Vögtle, F. A Molecular Knot with Twelve Amide Group - One-step Synthesis, Crystal Structure, Chirality. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 1616-1618.

(87) Wessjohann, L. A.; Kreye, O.; Rivera, D. G. One-Pot Assembly of Amino Acid Bridged Hybrid Macromulticyclic Cages through Multiple Multicomponent Macrocyclizations. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 3501–3505.

(88) Davis, A. P.; Wareham, R. S. A Tricyclic Polyamide Receptor for Carbohydrates in Organic Media. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **1998**, 37, 2270–2273.

(89) Ryan, T. J.; Lecollinet, G.; Velasco, T.; Davis, A. P. Phase Transfer of Monosaccharides through Noncovalent Interactions: Selective Extraction of Glucose by a Lipophilic Cage Receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2002**, *99*, 4863–4866.

(90) Tominaga, M.; Masu, H.; Katagiri, K.; Azumaya, I. Triple Helical Structure Constructed by Covalent Bondings: Effective Synthesis by a Pre-Organized Partial Structure and Helicity Induced by Aromatic-Aromatic Interactions. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2007**, *48*, 4369–4372.

(91) Masu, H.; Katagiri, K.; Kato, T.; Kagechika, H.; Tominaga, M.; Azumaya, I. Chiral Spherical Molecule Constructed from Aromatic Amides: Facile Synthesis and Highly Ordered Network Structure in the Crystal. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 5143–5146.

(92) Yuan, L.; Feng, W.; Yamato, K.; Sanford, A. R.; Xu, D.; Guo, H.; Gong, B. Highly Efficient, One-Step Macrocyclizations Assisted by the Folding and Preorganization of Precursor Oligomers. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 11120–11121.

(93) Sanford, A. R.; Yuan, L.; Feng, W.; Yamato, K.; Flowers, R. A.; Gong, B. Cyclic Aromatic Oligoamides as Highly Selective Receptors for the Guanidinium Ion. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, 4720–4722.

(94) Qin, B.; Chen, X.; Fang, X.; Shu, Y.; Yip, Y. K.; Yan, Y.; Pan, S.; Ong, W. Q.; Ren, C.; Su, H.; et al. Crystallographic Evidence of an Unusual, Pentagon-Shaped Folding Pattern in a Circular Aromatic Pentamer. *Org. Lett.* **2008**, *10*, 5127–5130.

(95) Kawase, T.; Kurata, H. Ball-, Bowl-, and Belt-Shaped Conjugated Systems and Their Complexing Abilities: Exploration of the Concave-Convex π - π Interaction. *Chem. Rev.* **2006**, 106, 5250–5273.

(96) Ashton, P. R.; Isaacs, N. S.; Kohnke, F. H.; D'Alcontres, G. S.; Stoddart, J. F. Trinacrene - A Product of Structure-Directed Synthesis. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1989**, *28*, 1261–1263.

(97) Vögtle, F.; Gross, J.; Seel, C.; Nieger, M. $C_{36}H_{36}$ -Tetrahedral Clamping of Four Benzene Rings in a Spherical Hydrocarbon Framework. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1992**, *31*, 1069–1071.

(98) Gross, J.; Harder, G.; Vögtle, F.; Stephan, H.; Gloe, K. $C_{60}H_{60}$ and $C_{54}H_{48}$: Silver Ion Extraction with New Concave Hydrogens. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1995**, *34*, 481–484.

(99) Wu, Z.; Lee, S.; Moore, J. S. Synthesis of Three-Dimensional Nanoscaffolding. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, 114, 8730–8732.

(100) Bucher, C.; Zimmerman, R. S.; Lynch, V.; Sessler, J. L. First Cryptand-Like Calixpyrrole: Synthesis, X-Ray Structure, and Anion Binding Properties of a Bicyclic[3,3,3]nonapyrrole. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 9716–9717.

(101) Gu, X.; Gopalakrishna, T. Y.; Phan, H.; Ni, Y.; Herng, T. S.; Ding, J.; Wu, J. A Three-Dimensionally π -Conjugated Diradical Molecular Cage. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2017, 129, 15585–15589.

(102) Zhang, G.; Chen, C. F. Synthesis and Structure of a Triptycene-Based Nanosized Molecular Cage. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 9339–9341.

(103) Lee, S.; Chen, C. H.; Flood, A. H. A Pentagonal Cyanostar Macrocycle with Cyanostilbene CH Donors Binds Anions and Forms Dialkylphosphate [3]Rotaxanes. *Nat. Chem.* **2013**, *5*, 704–710.

(104) Buyukcakir, O.; Seo, Y.; Coskun, A. Thinking Outside the Cage: Controlling the Extrinsic Porosity and Gas Uptake Properties of Shape-Persistent Molecular Cages in Nanoporous Polymers. *Chem. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 4149–4155.

(105) Katz, J. L.; Selby, K. J.; Conry, R. R. Single-Step Synthesis of D_{3h} -Symmetric Bicyclooxacalixarenes. Org. Lett. **2005**, 7, 3505–3507.

(106) Traoré, T.; Delacour, L.; Garcia-Argote, S.; Berthault, P.; Cintrat, J. C.; Rousseau, B. Scalable Synthesis of Cryptophane-1.1.1 and Its Functionalization. *Org. Lett.* **2010**, *12*, 960–912.

(107) Kotera, N.; Delacour, L.; Traore, T.; Tassali, N.; Berthault, P.; Buisson, D. A.; Dognon, J. P.; Rousseau, B. Design and Synthesis of New Cryptophanes with Intermediate Cavity Sizes. *Org. Lett.* **2011**, *13*, 2153–2155.

(108) Wang, Y.; Wu, H.; Stoddart, J. F. Molecular Triangles: A New Class of Macrocycles. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2021**, *54*, 2027–2039.

(109) Bruns, C. J.; Stoddart, J. F. *The Nature of the Mechanical Bond: From Molecules to Machines*; John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: NJ, 2017; pp 349–445.

(110) Ashton, P. R.; Odell, B.; Reddington, M. V.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Stoddart, J. F.; Williams, D. J. Isostructural, Alternately-Charged Receptor Stacks. The Inclusion Complexes of Hydroquinone and Catechol Dimethyl Ethers with Cyclobis(paraquat-*p*-phenylene). *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1988**, *27*, 1550–1553.

(111) Henkelis, J. J.; Blackburn, A. K.; Dale, E. J.; Vermeulen, N. A.; Nassar, M. S.; Stoddart, J. F. Allosteric Modulation of Substrate Binding within a Tetracationic Molecular Receptor. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137*, 13252–13255.

(112) Liu, W.; Lin, C.; Weber, J. A.; Stern, C. L.; Young, R. M.; Wasielewski, M. R.; Stoddart, J. F. Cyclophane-Sustained Ultrastable Porphyrins. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2020**, 142, 8938–8945.

(113) Barnes, J. C.; Juricek, M.; Strutt, N. L.; Frasconi, M.; Sampath, S.; Giesener, M. A.; McGrier, P. L.; Bruns, C. J.; Stern, C. L.; Sarjeant, A. A.; et al. ExBox: A Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Scavenger. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 183–192.

(114) Jiao, T.; Cai, K.; Liu, Z.; Wu, G.; Shen, L.; Cheng, C.; Feng, Y.; Stern, C. L.; Stoddart, J. F.; Li, H. Guest Recognition Enhanced by Lateral Interactions. *Chem. Sci.* **2019**, *10*, 5114–5123.

(115) Shi, Y.; Cai, K.; Xiao, H.; Liu, Z.; Zhou, J.; Shen, D.; Qiu, Y.; Guo, Q. H.; Stern, C.; Wasielewski, M. R.; et al. Selective Extraction of C_{70} by a Tetragonal Prismatic Porphyrin Cage. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140*, 13835–13842.

(116) Lehn, J.-M. Dynamic Combinatorial Chemistry and Virtual Combinatorial Libraries. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1999**, *5*, 2455–2463.

(117) Quan, M. L. C.; Cram, D. J. Constrictive Binding of Large Guests by a Hemicarcerand Containing Four Portals. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, 113, 2754–2755.

(118) Skowronek, P.; Warzajtis, B.; Rychlewska, U.; Gawronski, J. Self-Assembly of a Covalent Organic Cage with Exceptionally Large and Symmetrical Interior Cavity: The Role of Entropy of Symmetry. *Chem. Commun.* **2013**, *49*, 2524–2526.

(119) Sun, J.; Warmuth, R. Rational Design of a Nanometre-Sized Covalent Octahedron. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 9351–9353.

(120) Koo, J.; Kim, I.; Kim, Y.; Cho, D.; Hwang, I. C.; Mukhopadhyay, R. D.; Song, H.; Ko, Y. H.; Dhamija, A.; Lee, H.; et al. Gigantic Porphyrinic Cages. *Chem.* **2020**, *6*, 3374–3384.

(121) Jiang, S.; Bacsa, J.; Wu, X.; Jones, J. T. A.; Dawson, R.; Trewin, A.; Adams, D. J.; Cooper, A. I. Selective Gas Sorption in a [2 + 3] 'Propeller' Cage Crystal. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 8919–8921.

(122) Schneider, M. W.; Oppel, I. M.; Mastalerz, M. Exo-Functionalized Shape-Persistent [2 + 3] Cage Compounds: Influence of Molecular Rigidity on Formation and Permanent Porosity. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2012**, *18*, 4156–4160.

(123) Lauer, J. C.; Zhang, W.-S.; Rominger, F.; Schroeder, R. R.; Mastalerz, M. Shape-Persistent [4 + 4] Imine Cage with a Truncated Tetrahedral Geometry. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2018**, *24*, 1816–1820.

(124) Schneider, M.; Hauswald, H. J. S.; Stoll, R.; Mastalerz, M. A Shape-Persistent Exo-Functionalized [4 + 6] Imine Cage Compound with a Very High Specific Surface Area. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 9861–9863.

(125) Schneider, M. Modulare Synthese Von Diskreten Porösen Organischen Käfigverbindungen, Dissertation; Universität Ulm, Germany, 2014; pp 25-70.

(126) Ding, H.; Yang, Y.; Li, B.; Pan, F.; Zhu, G.; Zeller, M.; Yuan, D.; Wang, C. Targeted Synthesis of a Large Triazine-Based [4 + 6] Organic Molecular Cage: Structure, Porosity and Gas Separation. *Chem. Commun.* **2015**, *51*, 1976–1979.

(127) Hong, S.; Rohman, M. R.; Jia, J.; Kim, Y.; Moon, D.; Kim, Y.; Ko, Y. H.; Lee, E.; Kim, K. Porphyrin Boxes: Rationally Designed Porous Organic Cages. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 13241–13244.

(128) Su, K.; Wang, W.; Du, S.; Ji, C.; Zhou, M.; Yuan, D. Reticular Chemistry in the Construction of Porous Organic Cages. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2020, 142, 18060–18072.

(129) Liu, X.; Warmuth, R. Solvent Effects in Thermodynamically Controlled Multicomponent Nanocage Syntheses. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 14120–14127.

(130) Acharyya, K.; Mukherjee, S.; Mukherjee, P. S. Molecular Marriage through Partner Preferences in Covalent Cage Formation and Cage-to-Cage Transformation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2013**, 135, 554– 557.

(131) Acharyya, K.; Mukherjee, P. S. Hydrogen-Bond-Driven Controlled Molecular Marriage in Covalent Cages. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2014**, *20*, 1646–1657.

(132) Kołodziejski, M.; Stefankiewicz, A. R.; Lehn, J.-M. Dynamic Polyimine Macrobicyclic Cryptands - Self-Sorting with Component Selection. *Chem. Sci.* **2019**, *10*, 1836–1843.

(133) Schneider, M.; Oppel, I. M.; Griffin, A.; Mastalerz, M. Post-Modification of the Interior of Porous Shape-Persistent Organic Cage Compounds. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 3611–3615.

(134) Sun, Z.; Li, P.; Xu, S.; Li, Z.; Nomura, Y.; Li, Z.; Liu, X.; Zhang, S. Controlled Hierarchical Self-Assembly of Catenated Cages. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2020**, *142*, 10833–10840.

(135) Hu, X. Y.; Zhang, W. S.; Rominger, F.; Wacker, I.; Schroeder, R. R.; Mastalerz, M. Transforming a Chemically Labile [2 + 3] Imine Cage into a Robust Carbamate Cage. *Chem. Commun.* **2017**, *53*, 8616–8619.

(136) Zhu, G. H.; Hoffman, C. D.; Liu, Y.; Bhattacharyya, S.; Tumuluri, U.; Jue, M. L.; Wu, Z. L.; Sholl, D. S.; Nair, S.; Jones, C. W.; et al. Engineering Porous Organic Cage Crystals with Increased Acid Gas Resistance. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2016**, *22*, 10743–10747. (137) El-Kaderi, H. M.; Hunt, J. R.; Mendoza-Cortés, J. L.; Côté, A. P.; Taylor, R. E.; O'Keeffe, M.; Yaghi, O. M. Designed Synthesis of 3D Covalent Organic Frameworks. *Science* **2007**, *316*, 268–272.

(138) Kataoka, K.; James, T. D.; Kubo, Y. Ion-Pair-Driven Heterodimeric Capsule Based on Boronate Esterification: Construction and the Dynamic Behavior. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129*, 15126–15127.

(139) Iwasawa, N.; Takahagi, H. Boronic Esters as a System for Crystallization-Induced Dynamic Self-Assembly Equipped with an "On-Off" Switch for Equilibration. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 7754–7755.

(140) Takahagi, H.; Fujibe, S.; Iwasawa, N. Guest-Induced Dynamic Self-Assembly of Two Diastereomeric Cage-Like Boronic Esters. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2009**, *15*, 13327–13330.

(141) Zhang, G.; Presly, O.; White, F.; Oppel, I. M.; Mastalerz, M. A Permanent Mesoporous Organic Cage with an Exceptionally High Surface Area. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2014**, *53*, 1516–1520.

(142) Zhang, G.; Presly, O.; White, F.; Oppel, I. M.; Mastalerz, M. A Shape-Persistent Quadruply Interlocked Giant Cage Catenane with Two Distinct Pores in the Solid State. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2014**, *53*, 5126–5130.

(143) Elbert, S. M.; Regenauer, N. I.; Schindler, D.; Zhang, W.-S.; Rominger, F.; Schroder, R. R.; Mastalerz, M. Shape-Persistent Tetrahedral [4 + 6] Boronic Ester Cages with Different Degree of Fluoride Substitution. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2018**, *24*, 11438–11443.

(144) Klotzbach, S.; Scherpf, T.; Beuerle, F. Dynamic Covalent Assembly of Tribenzotriquinacenes into Molecular Cubes. *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50*, 12454–12457.

(145) Klotzbach, S.; Beuerle, F. Shape-Controlled Synthesis and Self-Sorting of Covalent Organic Cage Compounds. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 10356–10360.

(146) Ono, K.; Johmoto, K.; Yasuda, N.; Uekusa, H.; Fujii, S.; Kiguchi, M.; Iwasawa, N. Self-Assembly of Nanometer-Sized Boroxine Cages from Diboronic Acids. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137*, 7015–7018.

(147) Hahsler, M.; Mastalerz, M. A Giant [8 + 12] Boronic Ester Cage with 48 Terminal Alkene Units in the Periphery for Postsynthetic Alkene Metathesis. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2021**, *27*, 233–237.

(148) Inomata, T.; Konishi, K. Gold Nanocluster Confined within a Cage: Template-Directed Formation of a Hexaporphyrin Cage and Its Confinement Capability. *Chem. Commun.* **2003**, 1282–1283.

(149) Taesch, J.; Heitz, V.; Topić, F.; Rissanen, K. Templated Synthesis of a Large and Flexible Covalent Porphyrinic Cage Bearing Orthogonal Recognition Sites. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 5118–5120. (150) Zhang, C.; Wang, Q.; Long, H.; Zhang, W. A Highly C₇₀ Selective Shape-Persistent Rectangular Prism Constructed through One-Step Alkyne Metathesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 20995–

(151) Wang, Q.; Yu, C.; Long, H.; Du, Y.; Jin, Y.; Zhang, W. Solution-Phase Dynamic Assembly of Permanently Interlocked Aryleneethynylene Cages through Alkyne Metathesis. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 7550–7554.

21001.

(152) Lee, S.; Yang, A.; Moneypenny, T. P.; Moore, J. S. Kinetically Trapped Tetrahedral Cages via Alkyne Metathesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 2182–2185.

(153) Horng, Y. C.; Lin, T. L.; Tu, C. Y.; Sung, T. J.; Hsieh, C. C.; Hu, C. H.; Lee, H. M.; Kuo, T. S. Preparation of a Reversible Redox-Controlled Cage-Type Molecule Linked by Disulfide Bonds. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2009**, 2009, 1511–1514.

(154) Ponnuswamy, N.; Cougnon, F. B. L.; Clough, J. M.; Pantos, G. D.; Sanders, J. K. M. Discovery of an Organic Trefoil Knot. *Science* **2012**, *338*, 783–785.

(155) Cougnon, F. B. L.; Jenkins, N. A.; Pantos, G. D.; Sanders, J. K. M. Templated Dynamic Synthesis of a [3]Catenane. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 1443–1447.

(156) Li, H.; Zhang, H.; Lammer, A. D.; Wang, M.; Li, X.; Lynch, V. M.; Sessler, J. L. Quantitative Self-Assembly of a Purely Organic Three-Dimensional Catenane in Water. *Nat. Chem.* **2015**, *7*, 1003–1008.

(157) Hutin, M.; Bernardinelli, G.; Nitschke, J. R. An Iminoboronate Construction Set for Subcomponent Self-Assembly. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2008**, *14*, 4585–4593.

(158) Christinat, N.; Scopelliti, R.; Severin, K. Multicomponent Assembly of Boronic Acid Based Macrocycles and Cages. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2008**, 47, 1848–1852.

(159) Icli, B.; Christinat, N.; Tonnemann, J.; Schuttler, C.; Scopelliti, R.; Severin, K. Synthesis of Molecular Nanostructures by Multicomponent Condensation Reactions in a Ball Mill. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131*, 3154–3155.

(160) Pascu, M.; Ruggi, A.; Scopelliti, R.; Severin, K. Synthesis of Borasiloxane-Based Macrocycles by Multicomponent Condensation Reactions in Solution or in a Ball Mill. *Chem. Commun.* **2013**, *49*, 45–47.

(161) Icli, B.; Sheepwash, E.; Riis-Johannessen, T.; Schenk, K.; Filinchuk, Y.; Scopelliti, R.; Severin, K. Dative Boron-Nitrogen Bonds in Structural Supramolecular Chemistry: Multicomponent Assembly of Prismatic Organic Cages. *Chem. Sci.* **2011**, *2*, 1719–1721.

(162) Okochi, K. D.; Han, G. S.; Aldridge, I. M.; Liu, Y.; Zhang, W. Covalent Assembly of Heterosequenced Macrocycles and Molecular Cages through Orthogonal Dynamic Covalent Chemistry (ODCC). *Org. Lett.* **2013**, *15*, 4296–4299.

(163) Briggs, M.; Cooper, A. I. A Perspective on the Synthesis, Purification, and Characterization of Porous Organic Cages. *Chem. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 149–157.

(164) Yang, X.; Xu, Q. Encapsulating Metal Nanocatalysts within Porous Organic Hosts. *Trends Chem.* **2020**, *2*, 214–226.

(165) Jiang, S.; Du, Y.; Marcello, M.; Corcoran, E. W.; Calabro, D. C.; Chong, S. Y.; Chen, L.; Clowes, R.; Hasell, T.; Cooper, A. I. Core-Shell Crystals of Porous Organic Cages. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2018**, *57*, 11228–11232.

(166) Hua, M.; Wang, S.; Gong, Y.; Wei, J.; Yang, Z.; Sun, J. K. Hierarchically Porous Organic Cages. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 12490–12497.

(167) Persch, E.; Dumele, O.; Diederich, F. Molecular Recognition in Chemical and Biological Systems. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 3290–3327.

(168) Liu, W.; Samanta, S. K.; Smith, B. D.; Isaacs, L. Synthetic Mimics of Biotin/(Strept)Avidin. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2017, 46, 2391–2403.

(169) Zhang, J.-H.; Xie, S.-M.; Zi, M.; Yuan, L.-M. Recent Advances of Application of Porous Molecular Cages for Enantioselective Recognition and Separation. *J. Sep. Sci.* **2020**, *43*, 134–149.

(170) Mateus, P.; Delgado, R.; Brandão, P.; Carvalho, S.; Félix, V. Selective Recognition of Tetrahedral Dianions by a Hexaaza Cryptand Receptor. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2009**, *7*, 4661–4673.

(171) Schouwey, C.; Scopelliti, R.; Severin, K. An Imine-Based Molecular Cage with Distinct Binding Sites for Small and Large Alkali Metal Cations. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2013, *19*, 6274–6281.

(172) Acharyya, K.; Mukherjee, P. S. A Fluorescent Organic Cage for Picric Acid Detection. *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50*, 15788–15791.

(173) Zhang, M.; Xu, H.; Wang, M.; Saha, M. L.; Zhou, Z.; Yan, X.; Wang, H.; Li, X.; Huang, F.; She, N.; et al. Platinum(II)-Based Convex Trigonal-Prismatic Cages via Coordination-Driven Self-Assembly and C_{60} Encapsulation. *Inorg. Chem.* **2017**, *56*, 12498–12504.

(174) Jiao, Y.; Qiu, Y.; Zhang, L.; Liu, W. G.; Mao, H.; Chen, H.; Feng, Y.; Cai, K.; Shen, D.; Song, B.; et al. Electron-Catalysed Molecular Recognition. *Nature* **2022**, *603*, 265–270.

(175) Trabolsi, A.; Khashab, N.; Fahrenbach, A. C.; Friedman, D. C.; Colvin, M. T.; Cotí, K. K.; Benítez, D.; Tkatchouk, E.; Olsen, J.-C.; Belowich, M. E.; et al. Radically Enhanced Molecular Recognition. *Nat. Chem.* **2010**, *2*, 42–49.

(176) Yang, X.; Xu, Q. Gold-Containing Metal Nanoparticles for Catalytic Hydrogen Generation from Liquid Chemical Hydrides. *Chin. J. Catal.* **2016**, *37*, 1594–1599.

(177) Onishi, N.; Iguchi, M.; Yang, X.; Kanega, R.; Kawanami, H.; Xu, Q.; Himeda, Y. Development of Effective Catalysts for Hydrogen

Review

Storage Technology Using Formic acid. Adv. Energy Mater. 2019, 9, 1801275.

(178) Mitra, T.; Wu, X.; Clowes, R.; Jones, J. T. A.; Jelfs, K. E.; Adams, D. J.; Trewin, A.; Bacsa, J.; Steiner, A.; Cooper, A. I. A Soft Porous Organic Cage Crystal with Complex Gas Sorption Behavior. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2011**, *17*, 10235–10240.

(179) Jiang, S.; Jones, J. T. A.; Hasell, T.; Blythe, C. E.; Adams, D. J.; Trewin, A.; Cooper, A. I. Porous Organic Molecular Solids by Dynamic Covalent Scrambling. *Nat. Commun.* **2011**, *2*, 207.

(180) Hasell, T.; Armstrong, J. A.; Jelfs, K. E.; Tay, F. H.; Thomas, M.; Kazarian, S. G.; Cooper, A. I. High-Pressure Carbon Dioxide Uptake for Porous Organic Cages: Comparison of Spectroscopic and Manometric Measurement Techniques. *Chem. Commun.* **2013**, *49*, 9410–9412.

(181) Zhang, C.; Wang, Z.; Tan, L.; Zhai, T. L.; Wang, S.; Tan, B.; Zheng, Y. S.; Yang, X. L.; Xu, H. B. A Porous Tricyclooxacalixarene Cage Based on Tetraphenylethylene. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 9244–9248.

(182) Zhu, G.; Liu, Y.; Flores, L.; Lee, Z. R.; Jones, C. W.; Dixon, D. A.; Sholl, D. S.; Lively, R. P. Formation Mechanisms and Defect Engineering of Imine-Based Porous Organic Cages. *Chem. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 262–272.

(183) Jin, Y.; Voss, B. A.; Jin, A.; Long, H.; Noble, R. D.; Zhang, W. Highly CO₂-Selective Organic Molecular Cages: What Determines the CO₂ Selectivity. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 6650–6658.

(184) Zhang, L.; Xiang, L.; Hang, C.; Liu, W.; Huang, W.; Pan, Y. From Discrete Molecular Cages to a Network of Cages Exhibiting Enhanced CO_2 Adsorption Capacity. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 7787–7791.

(185) Zhu, Q.; Wang, X.; Clowes, R.; Cui, P.; Chen, L.; Little, M. A.; Cooper, A. I. 3D Cage COFs: A Dynamic Three-Dimensional Covalent Organic Framework with High-Connectivity Organic Cage Nodes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2020**, 142, 16842–16848.

(186) Chen, L.; Reiss, P. S.; Chong, S. Y.; Holden, D.; Jelfs, K. E.; Hasell, T.; Little, M. A.; Kewley, A.; Briggs, M. E.; Stephenson, A.; et al. Separation of Rare Gases and Chiral Molecules by Selective Binding in Porous Organic Cages. *Nat. Mater.* **2014**, *13*, 954–960.

(187) Liu, M.; Zhang, L.; Little, M. A.; Kapil, V.; Ceriotti, M.; Yang, S.; Ding, L.; Holden, D. L.; Balderas-Xicohténcatl, R.; He, D.; et al. Barely Porous Organic Cages for Hydrogen Isotope Separation. *Science* **2019**, *366*, 613–620.

(188) Solomon, S.; Qin, D.; Manning, M. Technical Summary; Cambridge University Press: New York, 2007; pp 28-33.

(189) Hasell, T.; Miklitz, M.; Stephenson, A.; Little, M. A.; Chong, S. Y.; Clowes, R.; Chen, L.; Holden, D.; Tribello, G. A.; Jelfs, K. E.; et al. Porous Organic Cages for Sulfur Hexafluoride Separation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 1653–1659.

(190) Mitra, T.; Jelfs, K. E.; Schmidtmann, M.; Ahmed, A.; Chong, S. Y.; Adams, D. J.; Cooper, A. I. Molecular Shape Sorting Using Molecular Organic Cages. *Nat. Chem.* **2013**, *5*, 276–281.

(191) Zhang, J. H.; Xie, S. M.; Chen, L.; Wang, B.-J.; He, P. G.; Yuan, L. M. Homochiral Porous Organic Cage with High Selectivity for the Separation of Racemates in Gas Chromatography. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *87*, 7817–7824.

(192) Kewley, A.; Stephenson, A.; Chen, L.; Briggs, M. E.; Hasell, T.; Cooper, A. I. Porous Organic Cages for Gas Chromatography Separations. *Chem. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 3207–3210.

(193) Zhang, J. H.; Xie, S. M.; Wang, B. J.; He, P. G.; Yuan, L. M. Highly Selective Separation of Enantiomers Using a Chiral Porous Organic Cage. *J. Chromatogr. A* **2015**, *1426*, 174–182.

(194) Xie, S. M.; Zhang, J.-H.; Fu, N.; Wang, B. J.; Chen, L.; Yuan, L. M. A Chiral Porous Organic Cage for Molecular Recognition Using Gas Chromatography. *Acta Crystallogr.* **2016**, *903*, 156–163.

(195) Hasell, T.; Schmidtmann, M.; Cooper, A. I. Molecular Doping of Porous Organic Cages. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2011**, 133, 14920–14923. (196) Jie, K.; Zhou, Y.; Li, E.; Li, Z.; Zhao, R.; Huang, F. Reversible Iodine Capture by Nonporous Pillar[6]arene Crystals. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2017**, 139, 15320–15323. (197) Sholl, D. S.; Lively, R. P. Seven Chemical Separations to Change the World. *Nature* 2016, 532, 435–437.

(198) Zhang, J.; Liu, W. Thin Porous Metal Sheet-Supported NaA Zeolite Membrane for Water/Ethanol Separation. *J. Membr. Sci.* 2011, 371, 197–210.

(199) Yang, J.; Lin, G. S.; Mou, C. Y.; Tung, K. L. Mesoporous Silica Thin Membrane with Tunable Pore Size for Ultrahigh Permeation and Precise Molecular Separation. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2020**, *12*, 7459–7465.

(200) Wang, Y.; Shao, Y.; Wang, H.; Yuan, J. Advanced Heteroatom-Doped Carbon Membranes Assisted by Poly(ionic liquid) Design and Engineering. *Acc. Mater. Res.* **2020**, *1*, 16–29.

(201) Cheng, Y.; Ying, Y.; Japip, S.; Jiang, S.-D.; Chung, T.-S.; Zhang, S.; Zhao, D. Advanced Porous Materials in Mixed Membranes. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1802401.

(202) Hou, J.; Zhang, H.; Simon, G. P.; Wang, H. Polycrystalline Advanced Microporous Framework Membranes for Efficient Separation of Small Molecules and Ions. *Adv. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 1902009.

(203) Sun, J. K.; Zhang, W.; Guterman, R.; Lin, H.-J.; Yuan, J. Porous Polycarbene-Bearing Membrane Actuator for Ultrasensitive Weak-Acid Detection and Real-Time Chemical Reaction Monitoring. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 1717.

(204) Zhang, S. Y.; Zhuang, Q.; Zhang, M.; Wang, H.; Gao, Z.; Sun, J.-K.; Yuan, J. Poly(ionic liquid) Composites. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2020**, 49, 1726–1755.

(205) Evans, J. D.; Huang, D. M.; Hill, M. R.; Sumby, C. J.; Sholl, D. S.; Thornton, A. W.; Doonan, C. J. Molecular Design of Amorphous Porous Organic Cages for Enhanced Gas Storage. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2015**, *119*, 7746–7754.

(206) Evans, J. D.; Huang, D. M.; Hill, M. R.; Sumby, C. J.; Thornton, A. W.; Doonan, C. J. Feasibility of Mixed Matrix Membrane Gas Separations Employing Porous Organic Cages. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2014, *118*, 1523–1529.

(207) Kong, X.; Jiang, J. Porous Organic Cage Membranes for Water Desalination: A Simulation Exploration. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2017**, *19*, 18178–18185.

(208) Kong, X.; Jiang, J. Amorphous Porous Organic Cage Membranes for Water Desalination. J. Phys. Chem. C 2018, 122, 1732–1740.

(209) Zhao, D.; Liu, J.; Jiang, J. Porous Organic Cages Embedded in a Lipid Membrane for Water Desalination: A Molecular Simulation Study. *J. Membr. Sci.* **2019**, *573*, 177–183.

(210) Brutschy, M.; Schneider, M. W.; Mastalerz, M.; Waldvogel, S. R. Porous Organic Cage Compounds as Highly Potent Affinity Materials for Sensing by Quartz Crystal Microbalances. *Adv. Mater.* **2012**, *24*, 6049–6052.

(211) Brutschy, M.; Schneider, M. W.; Mastalerz, M.; Waldvogel, S. R. Direct Gravimetric Sensing of GBL by a Molecular Recognition Process in Organic Cage Compounds. *Chem. Commun.* **2013**, *49*, 8398–8400.

(212) Song, Q.; Jiang, S.; Hasell, T.; Liu, M.; Sun, S.; Cheetham, A. K.; Sivaniah, E.; Cooper, A. I. Porous Organic Cage Thin Films and Molecular-Sieving Membranes. *Adv. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 2629–2637.

(213) Jiang, S.; Song, Q.; Massey, A.; Chong, S. Y.; Chen, L.; Sun, S.; Hasell, T.; Raval, R.; Sivaniah, E.; Cheetham, A. K.; et al. Oriented Two-Dimensional Porous Organic Cage Crystals. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **201**7, *56*, 9391–9395.

(214) Lucero, J. M.; Carreon, M. A. Separation of Light Gases from Xenon over Porous Organic Cage Membranes. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2020**, *12*, 32182–32188.

(215) He, A.; Jiang, Z.; Wu, Y.; Hussain, H.; Rawle, J.; Briggs, M. E.; Little, M. A.; Livingston, A. G.; Cooper, A. I. A Smart and Responsive Crystalline Porous Organic Cage Membrane with Switchable Pore Apertures for Graded Molecular Sieving. *Nat. Mater.* **2022**, *21*, 463– 470.

(216) Bushell, A. F.; Budd, P. M.; Attfield, M. P.; Jones, J. T. A.; Hasell, T.; Cooper, A. T.; Bernardo, P.; Bazzarelli, F.; Clarizia, G.; Jansen, J. C. Nanoporous Organic Polymer/Cage Composite Membranes. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 1253–1256. (217) Zhang, Q.; Li, H.; Chen, S.; Duan, J.; Jin, W. Mixed-Matrix Membranes with Soluble Porous Organic Molecular Cage for Highly Efficient C_3H_6/C_3H_8 Separation. *J. Membr. Sci.* **2020**, *611*, 118288.

(218) Mao, H.; Zhang, S. Mixed-Matrix Membranes Incorporated with Porous Shape-Persistent Organic Cages for Gas Separation. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2017, 490, 29–36.

(219) Zhu, G.; Zhang, F.; Rivera, M. P.; Hu, X.; Zhang, G.; Jones, C. W.; Lively, R. P. Molecularly Mixed Composite Membranes for Advanced Separation Processes. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 2638–2643.

(220) O'Reilly, N.; Giri, N.; James, S. L. Porous Liquids. *Chem. Eur.* J. 2007, 13, 3020–3025.

(221) Robbins, T. A.; Knobler, C. B.; Bellew, D. R.; Cram, D. J. Host-Guest Complexation. 67. A Highly Adaptive and Strongly Binding Hemicarcerand. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, 116, 111–122.

(222) Giri, N.; Davidson, C. E.; Melaugh, G.; Del Pópolo, M. G.; Jones, J. T. A; Hasell, T.; Cooper, A. I.; Horton, P. N.; Hursthouse, M. B.; James, S. L. Alkylated Organic Cages: From Porous Crystals to Neat Liquids. *Chem. Sci.* **2012**, *3*, 2153–2157.

(223) Melaugh, G.; Giri, N.; Davidson, C. E.; James, S. L.; Del Pópolo, M. G. Designing and Understanding Permanent Microporosity in Liquids. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2014**, *16*, 9422–9431. (224) Giri, N.; Del Pópolo, M. G.; Melaugh, G.; Greenaway, R. L.;

Rätzke, K.; Koschine, T.; Pison, L.; Gomes, M. F. C.; Cooper, A. I.; James, S. L. Liquids with Permanent Porosity. *Nature* **2015**, 527, 216–220.

(225) Zhang, F.; Yang, F.; Huang, J.; Sumpter, B. G.; Qiao, R. Thermodynamics and Kinetics of Gas Storage in Porous Liquids. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2016**, *120*, 7195–7200.

(226) Greenaway, R. L.; Holden, D.; Eden, E. G. B.; Stephenson, A.; Yong, C. W.; Bennison, M. J.; Hasell, T.; Briggs, M. E.; James, S. L.; Cooper, A. I. Understanding Gas Capacity, Guest Selectivity, and Diffusion in Porous Liquids. *Chem. Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 2640–2651.

(227) Egleston, B. D.; Luzyanin, K. V.; Brand, M. C.; Clowes, R.; Briggs, M. E.; Greenaway, R. L.; Cooper, A. I. Controlling Gas Selectivity in Molecular Porous Liquids by Tuning the Cage Window Size. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *132*, 7432–7436.

(228) Jie, K.; Onishi, N.; Schott, J. A.; Popovs, I.; Jiang, D.; Mahurin, S.; Dai, S. Transforming Porous Organic Cages into Porous Ionic Liquids via a Supramolecular Complexation Strategy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 2268–2272.

(229) Bavykina, A.; Cadiau, A.; Gascon, J. Porous Liquids Based on Porous Cages, Metal Organic Frameworks and Metal Organic Polyhedra. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2019**, 386, 85–95.

(230) Zhang, J.; Chai, S. H.; Qiao, Z. A.; Mahurin, S. M.; Chen, J.; Fang, Y.; Wan, S. W.; Nelson, K.; Zhang, P.; Dai, S. Porous Liquids: A Promising Class of Media for Gas Separation. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 932–946.

(231) Yang, X.; Pachfule, P.; Chen, Y.; Tsumori, N.; Xu, Q. Highly Efficient Hydrogen Generation from Formic Acid using a Reduced Graphene Oxide-Supported AuPd Nanoparticle Catalyst. *Chem. Commun.* **2016**, *52*, 4171–4174.

(232) Yang, X.; Li, Z.; Kitta, M.; Tsumori, W.; Guo, W.; Zhang, Z.; Zhang, J.; Zou, R.; Xu, Q. Solid-Solution Alloy Nanoclusters of the Immiscible Gold-Rhodium System Achieved by a Solid Ligand-Assisted Approach for Highly Efficient Catalysis. *Nano Res.* **2020**, *13*, 105–111.

(233) Song, F.; Yang, X.; Xu, Q. Ultrafine Bimetallic Pt-Ni Nanoparticles Achieved by Metal-Organic Framework Templated Zirconia/Porous Carbon/Reduced Graphene Oxide: Remarkable Catalytic Activity in Dehydrogenation of Hydrous Hydrazine. *Small Methods* **2020**, *4*, 1900707.

(234) Hussain, M. D. W.; Giri, A.; Patra, A. Organic Nanocages: A Promising Testbed for Catalytic CO_2 Conversion. Sustain. Energy Fuels 2019, 3, 2567–2571.

(235) Liu, C.; Liu, K.; Wang, C.; Liu, H.; Wang, H.; Su, H.; Li, X.; Chen, B.; Jiang, J. Elucidating Heterogeneous Photocatalytic Superiority of Microporous Porphyrin Organic Cage. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 1047. (236) Mondal, B.; Acharyya, K.; Howlader, P.; Mukherjee, P. S. Molecular Cage Impregnated Palladium Nanoparticles: Efficient, Additive-Free Heterogeneous Catalysts for Cyanation of Aryl Halides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 1709–1716.

(237) Jiang, S.; Cox, H. J.; Papaioannou, E. I.; Tang, C.; Liu, H.; Murdoch, B. J.; Gibson, E. K.; Metcalfe, I. S.; Evans, J. S. O.; Beaumont, S. K. Shape-Persistent Porous Organic Cage Supported Palladium Nanoparticles as Heterogeneous Catalytic Materials. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 14929–14936.

(238) Sharma, V.; De, D.; Saha, R.; Chattaraj, P. K.; Bharadwaj, P. K. Flexibility Induced Encapsulation of Ultrafine Palladium Nanoparticles into Organic Cages for Tsuji-Trost Allylation. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2020**, *12*, 8539–8546.

(239) Bai, S.; Wang, Y. Y.; Han, Y. F. Template Synthesis of Metal Nanoparticles within Organic Cages. *Chin. J. Chem.* **2019**, 37, 1289–1290.

(240) Sun, J. K.; Zhan, W. W.; Akita, T.; Xu, Q. Toward Homogenization of Heterogeneous Metal Nanoparticle Catalysts with Enhanced Catalytic Performance: Soluble Porous Organic Cage as a Stabilizer and Homogenizer. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137*, 7063–7066.

(241) Qiu, L.; McCaffrey, R.; Jin, Y.; Gong, Y.; Hu, Y.; Sun, H.; Park, W.; Zhang, W. Cage-Templated Synthesis of Highly Stable Palladium Nanoparticles and Their Catalytic Activities in Suzuki-Miyaura Coupling. *Chem. Sci.* **2018**, *9*, 676–680.

(242) Gou, X. X.; Liu, T.; Wang, Y. Y.; Han, Y. F. Ultrastable and Highly Catalytically Active N-Heterocyclic-Carbene-Stabilized Gold Nanoparticles in Confined Spaces. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 16683–16689.

(243) Wang, Z.; Reddy, B.; Zhou, X.; Ibrahim, J.; Yang, Y. Phosphine-Built-in Porous Organic Cage for Stabilization and Boosting the Catalytic Performance of Palladium Nanoparticles in Cross-Coupling of Aryl Halides. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2020**, *12*, 53141–53149.

(244) Zhang, S. Y.; Kochovski, Z.; Lee, H.-C.; Lu, Y.; Zhang, H.; Zhang, J.; Sun, J.-K.; Yuan, J. Y. Ionic Organic Cage-Encapsulating Phase-Transferable Metal Clusters. *Chem. Sci.* **2019**, *10*, 1450–1456. (245) Yang, X.; Sun, J.-K.; Kitta, M.; Pang, H.; Xu, Q. Encapsulating

Highly Catalytically Active Metal Nanoclusters Inside Porous Organic Cages. *Nat. Catal.* **2018**, *1*, 214–220.

(246) Mondal, B.; Bhandari, P.; Mukherjee, P. S. Nucleation of Tiny Silver Nanoparticles by Using a Tetrafacial Organic Molecular Barrel: Potential Use in Visible-Light-Triggered Photocatalysis. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2020**, *26*, 15007–15015.

(247) Sun, N.; Wang, C.; Wang, H.; Yang, L.; Jin, P.; Zhang, W.; Jiang, J. Multifunctional Tubular Organic Cage-Supported Ultrafine Palladium Nanoparticles for Sequential Catalysis. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 18011–18016.

(248) Mondal, B.; Mukherjee, P. S. Cage Encapsulated Gold Nanoparticles as Heterogeneous Photocatalyst for Facile and Selective Reduction of Nitroarenes to Azo Compounds. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140*, 12592–12601.

(249) Zhang, J.; Wei, M. J.; Lu, Y. L.; Wei, Z. W.; Wang, H. P.; Pan, M. Ultrafine Palladium Nanoparticles Stabilized in the Porous Liquid of Covalent Organic Cages for Photocatalytic Hydrogen Evolution. *ACS Appl. Energy Mater.* **2020**, *3*, 12108–12114.

(250) Nihei, M.; Ida, H.; Nibe, T.; Mangala, A.; Moeljadi, P.; Trinh, Q. T.; Hirao, H.; Ishizaki, M.; Kurihara, M.; Shiga, T.; et al. Ferrihydrite Particle Encapsulated within a Molecular Organic Cage. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2018**, 140, 17753–17759.

(251) Song, L. N.; Zou, L. C.; Wang, X. X.; Luo, N.; Xu, J. J.; Yu, J. H. Realizing Formation and Decomposition of Li_2O_2 on Its Own Surface with a Highly Dispersed Catalyst for High Round-Trip Efficiency Li- O_2 Batteries. *iScience* **2019**, *14*, 36–46.

(252) Lin, Z.; Sun, J.; Efremovska, B.; Warmuth, R. Assembly of Water-Soluble, Dynamic, Covalent Container Molecules and Their Application in the Room-Temperature Stabilization of Protoadamantene. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2012**, *18*, 12864–12872.

(253) Uemura, T.; Nakanishi, R.; Mochizuki, S.; Kitagawa, S.; Mizuno, M. Radical Polymerization of Vinyl Monomers in Porous Organic Cages. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 6443–6447.

(254) Liu, M.; Chen, L.; Lewis, S.; Chong, S. Y.; Little, M. A.; Hasell, T.; Aldous, I. M.; Brown, C. M.; Smith, M. W.; Morrison, C. A.; et al. Three-Dimensional Protonic Conductivity in Porous Organic Cage Solids. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 12750.

(255) Xu, X.; Shao, Z.; Shi, L.; Cheng, B.; Yin, X.; Zhuang, X.; Di, Y. Enhancing Proton Conductivity of Proton Exchange Membrane with SPES Nanofibers Containing Porous Organic Cage. *Polym. Adv. Technol.* **2020**, *31*, 1571–1580.

(256) Petronico, A.; Moneypenny, T. P., II; Nicolau, B. G.; Moore, J. S.; Nuzzo, R. G.; Gewirth, A. A. Solid-Liquid Lithium Electrolyte Nanocomposites Derived from Porous Organic Cages. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140*, 7504–7509.

(257) Lee, S.; Yang, A.; Moneypenny, T. P., II; Moore, J. S. Kinetically Trapped Tetrahedral Cages via Alkyne Metathesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 2182–2185.

(258) Li, J.; Qi, J.; Jin, F.; Zhang, F.; Zheng, L.; Tang, L.; Huang, R.; Xu, J.; Chen, H.; Liu, M.; et al. Room Temperature All-Solid-State Lithium Batteries Based on A Soluble Organic Cage Ionic Conductor. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 2031.

(259) Hasell, T.; Schmidtmann, M.; Stone, C. A.; Smith, M. W.; Cooper, A. I. Reversible Water Uptake by A Stable Imine-Based Porous Organic Cage. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 4689–4691.

(260) Yuan, D. Y.; Dong, J.; Liu, J.; Zhao, D.; Wu, H.; Zhou, W.; Gan, H. X.; Tong, Y. W.; Jiang, J.; Zhao, D. Porous Organic Cages as Synthetic Water Channels. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 4927.

(261) Liu, H.; Duan, X.; Lv, Y. K.; Zhu, L.; Zhang, Z.; Yu, B.; Jin, Y.; Si, Y.; Wang, Z.; Li, B.; et al. Encapsulating Metal Nanoclusters inside Porous Organic Cage Towards Enhanced Radio-Sensitivity and Solubility. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2021**, *426*, 130872.

(262) Dong, J.; Pan, Y.; Yang, K.; Yuan, Y. D.; Wee, V.; Xu, S.; Wang, Y.; Jiang, J.; Liu, B.; Zhao, D. Enhanced Biological Imaging via Aggregation-Induced Emission Active Porous Organic Cages. ACS Nano 2022, 16, 2355–2368.

(263) Feringa, B. L. The Art of Building Small: From Molecular Switches to Motors (Nobel Lecture). *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 11060–11078.

(264) Sauvage, J.-P. From Chemical Topology to Molecular Machines (Nobel Lecture). *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 11080–11093.

(265) Stoddart, J. F. Mechanically Interlocked Molecules (MIMs)-Molecular Shuttles, Switches, and Machines (Nobel Lecture). *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **201**7, *56*, 11094–11125.

(266) Pezzato, C.; Cheng, C.; Stoddart, J. F.; Astumian, R. D. Mastering the Non-Equilibrium Assembly and Operation of Molecular Machines. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **201**7, *46*, 5491–5507.

(267) Dietrich-Buchecker, C. O.; Sauvage, J.-P.; Kintzinger, J. P. New Family of Molecules: The Metallo-Catenanes. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1983**, *24*, 5095–5098.

(268) Anelli, P. L.; Spencer, N.; Stoddart, J. F. A Molecular Shuttle. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, 113, 5131–5133.

(269) Cheng, C.; McGonigal, P. R.; Schneebeli, S. T.; Li, H.; Vermeulen, N. A.; Ke, C.; Stoddart, J. F. An Artificial Molecular Pump. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2015**, *10*, 547–553.

(270) Wilson, M. R.; Solà, J.; Carlone, A.; Goldup, S. M.; Lebrasseur, N.; Leigh, D. A. An Autonomous Chemically Fuelled Small-Molecule Motor. *Nature* **2016**, *534*, 235–240.

(271) Chen, X. Y.; Shen, D.; Cai, K.; Jiao, Y.; Wu, H.; Song, B.; Zhang, L.; Tan, Y.; Wang, Y.; Feng, Y.; et al. Suit[3]ane. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2020, 142, 20152–20160.

(272) Benke, B. P.; Kirschbaum, T. K.; Graf, J.; Gross, J. H.; Mastalerz, M. Dimeric and Trimeric Catenation of Giant Chiral [8 + 12] Imine Cubes Driven by Weak Supramolecular Interactions. *Nat. Mater.* **2023**, *15*, 413–423.

(273) Cao, W.; Zhou, J.; Kochovski, Z.; Miao, H.; Gao, Z.; Sun, J. K.; Yuan, J. Ionic Organic Cage-Encapsulated Metal Clusters for Switchable Catalysis. *Cell Rep. Phys. Sci.* **2021**, *2*, 100546.

(274) Cooper, A. I. Porous Molecular Solids and Liquids. ACS Cent. Sci. 2017, 3, 544–553.

(275) Mastalerz, M. Porous Shape-Persistent Organic Cage Compounds of Different Size, Geometry, and Function. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2018**, *51*, 2411–2422.

(276) Acharyya, K.; Mukherjee, P. S. Organic Imine Cages: Molecular Marriage and Applications. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, 131, 8732–8745.

(277) Wang, H.; Jin, Y.; Sun, N.; Zhang, W.; Jiang, J. Post-Synthetic Modification of Porous Organic Cages. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2021**, *50*, 8874–8886.